



Councilmembers

Rochelle Galindo Ward I

> Brett Payton Ward II

Michael Fitzsimmons Ward III

> Michael Finn Ward IV

> > Vacancy At-Large

Robb Casseday At-Large

A City Achieving **Community Excellence** Greeley promotes a healthy, diverse economy and high quality of life responsive to all its residents and neighborhoods, thoughtfully managing its human and natural resources in a manner that creates and sustains a safe, unique, vibrant and rewarding community in which to live, work, and play.

City Council Worksession Agenda

Worksession Meeting January 9, 2018 School District Six Board of Education Meeting Room – 1025 9th Avenue, Greeley, Colorado To begin immediately following the Special Meeting that is scheduled at 5:00 p.m.

1. Metropolitan Districts Model Service Plan Update

Brad Mueller, Community Development Director

2. Scheduling of Meetings, Other Events

Roy Otto, City Manager

Worksession Agenda Summary

January 9, 2018 Agenda Item Number 1 Key Staff Contact: Brad Mueller, Director Co

Key Staff Contact: Brad Mueller, Director Community Development 970-350-9786

Title

Metropolitan Districts Model Service Plan Update

Background

This worksession item continues a discussion from earlier last year about the taxing and operations form of government known as metropolitan districts. The city adopted a model service plan in 2007, which encourages newly-proposed districts to use it, because the model plan offers the type of consumer protections appropriate for future residents in these districts.

Staff has been reviewing the model service plan in order to potentially updating it. In the coming months, City Council can anticipate seeing service plan proposals related to specific new development requests, because metro districts have become commonplace with new development in Colorado. Many in the industry are arguing that metro districts are now necessary in Northern Colorado as a financing tool to enable development that supports new population demand.

What they are

Metropolitan districts are a specific type of special district, a governmental entity enabled by State law and organized to provide certain limited types of services. (They are sometimes referred to as "Title 32 districts.") There are currently only a few metropolitan districts in Greeley (Promontory and the former Hewlett-Packard site).

City Council allows Metropolitan districts to be established through its review of a service plan proposal for a specific development. If approved by Council, the newly-formed district is an independent governmental taxing and servicing entity. However, limits can be placed on the service plan that ensure consumer (i.e. future homeowner) protections, and Council can require that the district not expand in scope or increase maximum tax rates, without coming back to Council for re-authorization.

In practice, a developer will typically propose a metro district in conjunction with a larger master-planned development. The City encourages the developer to use the adopted service plan template, which already includes limits and protections that are consistent with Greeley's concern for future residents. Typically, any specific plan will have variations, unique the proposed development. City staff reviews the proposed plan with consideration of the needs of future residents. Because the financing proposed through the district is related to how quickly the proposed development builds out, staff also evaluates whether the proposed development schedule is realistic, based on city trends and demand.

Metro district taxes can be used for financing either infrastructure, operations (like park maintenance), or both. Metro districts cannot adopt other laws (such as police powers) or even exercise property controls, as a homeowners' association might. Initially the developer is the only landowner and, therefore, the only taxpayer. Over time, the metro district board (which has to follow voter and sunshine laws that apply to all governments) has to be controlled by a majority of homeowners. (State law, and clauses in the city model plan, ensure this.)

Why they are used

Metro districts can be a helpful tool in neighborhood-scale development, because the up-front costs of new roads and infrastructure are often more than what modern lenders will support. In this regard, they help encourage comprehensive planning for an area. By creating a running tax, infrastructure is paid over time by those who use it. This may result in a lower cost for housing, but more often it simply pays for the basic infrastructure (roads, water pipes) and amenities (neighborhood parks, community areas).

Metro districts are an attractive option to some developers because the infrastructure is tax-free (i.e., government entity does not tax itself), and because it does shift some costs to the future users.

Following the worksession with Council last summer, staff conducted two stakeholder meetings with the development community. We were able to better understand decisions in the housing market from these discussions. Developers explained that, in situations where land and other costs are equal, a metro district may lower the developer's cost by \$10,000 per lot, meaning they will favor constructing where the cost is lower. Indeed, early comparisons of 2017 housing constructions rates in Greeley (especially single-family detached) to that in neighboring communities (Severance, Milliken, etc.) suggests that Greeley may be proportionally lower.

Model service plan update

Greeley adopted a model service plan in 2007, and staff's review of it suggests that it remains fundamentally sound.

However, there also is an opportunity to make minor updates to the plan. Staff, including the city attorney's office and outside counsel with metro district experience, looked at state-wide trends (there are over 1,500 metro districts in the state and 231 in Weld County) and financing practices, as a way to refresh the model service plan. The development stakeholders also provided feedback, which staff took into consideration and incorporated, in part, into the update.

The attached revised model service plan is the new template for how future proposed districts are preferred in the City of Greeley. Some features include the following:

- Total mill levy cap (i.e., tax limit) of 70 mills
- Limit the default rate of interest, at 18% maximum
- If debt refunding is considered by the metro board, requirement that the board majority is composed of a least three resident homeowners
- Limit operating "facility fees" (change reference to "capital fees")

 Require that proposed subdistricts or special assessment districts (both of which can increase the scope of the metro district) be reviewed by City Council for approval

Metro district use in Greeley

Because they are becoming widely used in Northern Colorado, additional metro districts may be necessary in Greeley to maintain housing stock. The model service plan provides a meaningful template for future homeowner protection, and specific individual proposals will be scrutinized by staff and the City Council before being allowed. It is expected that any proposed new metro districts would generally be proposed in conjunction with a rezoning application, so that the total impact of the proposed development can be fully understood and evaluated by Councilmembers.

Council Direction Requested

None, informational only. The development community is using Council worksession as an opportunity to understand Council's general disposition towards metropolitan districts, and their potential future use in Greeley.

Decision Options

Item is for discussion. Staff plans minor updates to the model service plan that is on file with the City, as presented.

<u>Attachments</u>

UPDATED MODEL SERVICE PLAN – EDITED DRAFT UPDATED MODEL SERVICE PLAN – CLEAN DRAFT

EDITED DRAFT

[DRAFT MODEL MULTIPLE DISTRICT SERVICE PLAN]

CONSOLIDATED SERVICE PLAN FOR

- [_____] METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. [___]
- [_____] METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. [___]

[_____] METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. [___]

[REPEAT AS NECESSARY]

CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO

Prepared

by

[NAME OF PERSON OR ENTITY] [ADDRESS] [ADDRESS]

[DATE]

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION1				
	A.	Purpos	se and Intent		
	В.	Need f	for the Districts1		
	C.	Object	ive of the City Regarding Districts' Service Plan1		
II.	DEFI	EFINITIONS2			
III.	BOUN	UNDARIES5			
IV.		POSED JATIO	LAND USE/POPULATION PROJECTIONS/ASSESSED N		
v.	DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED POWERS, IMPROVEMENTS AND SERVICES				
	A.	Power	s of the District and Service Plan Amendment		
		1.	Operations and Maintenance Limitation		
		2.	Fire Protection Limitation		
		3.	Television Relay and Translation Limitation		
		4.	Construction Standards Limitation		
		5.	Property Acquisition Limitation; Transfer Requirement		
		6.	Privately Placed Debt Limitation		
		7.	Inclusion and Exclusion Limitations7		
		8.	Initial Debt Limitation		
		9.	Total Debt Issuance Limitation7		
		10.	Monies from Other Governmental Sources7		
		11.	Consolidation Limitation		
		12.	Bankruptcy Limitation7		
		13.	Revenue Bond Limitation		
		14.	Service Plan Amendment Requirement		
	B.	Capita	l Plan9		

	C.	Multiple District Structure		
VI.	FINANCIAL PLAN			
	A.	General10		
	B.	Maximum Voted Interest Rate and Maximum Underwriting Discount11		
	C.	Maximum Debt Mill Levy11		
	D.	Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term for Residential Districts12		
	E.	Debt Repayment Sources		
	F.	Security for Debt		
	G.	TABOR Compliance		
	Н.	Districts' Organizational Costs		
	I.	Subdistricts		
VII.	ANNU	NNUAL REPORT13		
	A.	General13		
	B.	Reporting of Significant Events		
VIII.	DISTRICT INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CITY; DISSOLUTION OF THE DISTRICT			
IX.	DISCLOSURES REQUIRED TO PURCHASERS OF PROPERTY WITHIN THE DISTRICT			
X.	INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT15			
XI.	NON-COMPLIANCE WITH SERVICE PLAN16			
XII.	CONCLUSION			

7

LIST OF EXHIBITS

- EXHIBIT A Legal Descriptions
- EXHIBIT B Greeley Vicinity Map
- EXHIBIT C-1 Initial District Boundary Map
- EXHIBIT C-2 Inclusion Area Boundary Map
- **EXHIBIT C-3** Proof of Ownership and Consents for all Properties within Districts
- EXHIBIT D Capital Plan and Engineer's Certificate
- EXHIBIT E Map Depicting Public Improvements
- EXHIBIT F Financial Plan
- **EXHIBIT G** Indemnification Letters
- EXHIBIT H Intergovernmental Agreement

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Purpose and Intent.

The Districts are independent units of local government, separate and distinct from the City, and, except as may otherwise be provided for by State or local law or this Service Plan, their activities are subject to review by the City only insofar as they may deviate in a material matter from the requirements of the Service Plan *Districts shall strictly comply with*, the Municipal Code *and*, of the Intergovernmental Agreement. It is intended that the Districts will provide a part or all of the Public Improvements for the use and benefit of all anticipated inhabitants, and taxpayers of the Districts, *and the general public*. The primary purpose of the Districts will be to finance the construction of these Public Improvements.

The District is also being created to provide ongoing operations and maintenance services as specifically set forth in this Service Plan and as may be stated in any applicable Intergovernmental Agreement.

B. Need for the Districts.

There are currently no other governmental entities, including the City, located in the immediate vicinity of the Districts that consider it desirable, feasible or practical to undertake the planning, design, acquisition, construction, installation, relocation, redevelopment, and financing of the Public Improvements needed for the Project. Formation of the Districts is therefore necessary in order for the Public Improvements required for the Project to be provided in the most economic manner possible.

C. Objective of the City Regarding Districts' Service Plan.

The City's objective in approving the Service Plan for the Districts is to authorize the Districts to provide for the planning, design, acquisition, construction, installation, relocation, redevelopment and financing of the Public Improvements from the proceeds of Debt to be issued by the Districts. All Debt is expected to be repaid by *ad valorem* property taxes and District Facility Fees imposed and collected for no longer than the Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term for Residential Districts and at a tax mill levy no higher than the Maximum Debt Mill Levy. Debt which is issued within these parameters (as further described in the Financial Plan) will insulate property owners from excessive tax burdens to support the servicing of the Debt and will result in a timely and reasonable discharge of the Debt.

This Service Plan is intended to establish a limited purpose for the Districts and explicit financial constraints that are not to be violated under any circumstances. The primary purpose of the Districts is to provide for the Public Improvements associated with the Project, including those regional improvements necessitated by the Project. The Districts shall be authorized to operate and maintain all of the Public Improvements at a level equal to or greater than City standards, unless such authorization is specifically limited in the Intergovernmental Agreement.

It is the intent of the Districts to dissolve upon payment or defeasance of all Debt incurred or upon a court determination that adequate provision has been made for the payment of all Debt, and if any District has authorized operating functions under an intergovernmental agreement with the City, to retain only the power necessary to impose and collect taxes or fees to pay for these costs.

It is a requirement of this Service Plan that all property classified as "residential" shall be located in a Residential District, and that all property classified as "commercial" shall be located within the boundaries of the Commercial District. Mixed uses, as defined by the Municipal Code, shall be classified as "commercial" and shall be located only within the boundaries of the Commercial District. For purposes of this distinction "commercial property" shall mean all property other than "residential property" as that term is defined in Article X, Section 3(1)(b) of the Colorado Constitution. The goal of this distinction is to have similarly situated properties governed by common interests. As such, no commercial property shall be located in a Residential District. The foregoing shall not prohibit the Residential and Commercial Districts from sharing the costs of Public Improvement in compliance with the provisions of this Service Plan and applicable law.

The Districts shall be authorized to finance the Public Improvements that can be funded from Debt to be repaid from tax revenues collected from a mill levy which shall not exceed the Maximum Debt Mill Levy. It is the intent of this Service Plan to assure to the extent possible that no property in any District bear an economic burden that is greater in amount than that associated with the Maximum Debt Mill Levy, and that no property in a Residential District bears an economic burden that is longer in duration than that associated with the Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term in duration, even under bankruptcy or other unusual situations. Generally, the cost of Public Improvements that cannot be funded within these parameters and the financing capacity of the Districts are not costs to be paid by the Districts. Costs of required Public Improvements that cannot be financed by the District are expected to be financed by the developer of the Project.

II. <u>DEFINITIONS</u>

In this Service Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated below, unless the context hereof clearly requires otherwise:

<u>Approved Development Plan</u>: means a development plan or other process established by the City (including but not limited to approval of a final plat, development plat or site plan by the City planning commission or by the City Council) identifying, among other things, the Public Improvements necessary for facilitating development for property within the Service Area as approved by the City pursuant to the Municipal Code and as amended pursuant to the Municipal Code from time to time. An Approved Development Plan does not include any plan, process or approval denoted as preliminary under the Municipal Code. (To the extent the type of Development Plan has been determined for the Project, this definition should be revised accordingly.)

<u>Board</u>: means the board of directors of one District or the boards of directors of all Districts, in the aggregate, as the context may require.

<u>Bond</u>, <u>Bonds or Debt</u>: means bonds or other obligations for the payment of which the District has promised to impose an *ad valorem* property tax mill levy.

<u>Capital Plan</u>: means the Capital Plan described in Section V.B., which includes: (a) a comprehensive list of the Public Improvements to be developed by the Districts; (b) an engineer's estimate of the cost of the Public Improvements; and (c) a pro forma capital expenditure plan correlating expenditures with development.

<u>City</u>: means the City of Greeley, Colorado.

City Council: means the City Council of the City of Greeley, Colorado.

Commercial District: means the [_____] Metropolitan District No. [___].

District: means any one of the [_____] Metropolitan District No. [___] through No. [___].

District No. 1: means the [_____] Metropolitan District No. 1

District No. 2: means the [_____] Metropolitan District No. 2.

District No. 3: means the [] Metropolitan District No. 3.

[repeat as necessary]

Districts: means District No. 1 and District No. [] and [], collectively.

<u>District Facility Fee</u>: means the one-time development or system development fee imposed by the Districts on a per-unit (*residential*) or per square-foot (*non-residential*) basis at or prior to the issuance of a building permit for the unit or structure to assist with the planning and development of the Public Improvements, subject to the limitations set forth in Section VI.E. of the Service Plan. The District Facility Fee may be used to finance, plan, acquire, and construct the Public Improvements, and pay debt service.

<u>Financial Plan</u>: means the Financial Plan described in Section VI which describes (a) how the Public Improvements are to be financed; (b) the total amount of Debt anticipated to be issued by the Districts based on estimated buildout projections; (c) the estimated operating revenue and expenses for the Districts for the term of the Debt; (d) the estimated debt service revenue sources and payment requirements on all Debt anticipated to be issued by the Districts; and (e) the assumptions regarding all such information.

<u>Inclusion Area Boundaries</u>: means the boundaries of the area described in the Inclusion Area Boundary Map.

<u>Inclusion Area Boundary Map</u>: means the map attached hereto as <u>Exhibit C-2</u>, describing the property proposed for inclusion within one, but not any more than one, of the boundaries of the Districts after organization, if any.

<u>Initial District Boundary</u>: means the boundary of the area described in the Initial District Boundary Map.

<u>Initial District Boundary Map</u>: means the map attached hereto as <u>Exhibit C-1</u>, describing the initial boundary of the Districts.

Intergovernmental Agreement: means the intergovernmental agreement required by Municipal Code section 13.50.170(5), and attached hereto as **Exhibit G**.

<u>Map Depicting Public Improvements</u>: means the map attached hereto as <u>Exhibit E</u>, showing the location(s) of the Public Improvements listed in the Capital Plan.

<u>Maximum Debt Mill Levy</u>: means the maximum mill levy a District is permitted to impose for payment of Debt, as set forth in Section VI.C. below.

<u>Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term</u>: means the maximum term for imposition of a mill levy on property within a Residential District as set forth in Section VI.DE. below.

<u>Municipal Code</u>: means the City of Greeley Municipal Code, as may be amended and in effect from time to time.

Operating District: means District No. 1.

<u>Privately Placed Debt</u>: means Debt which is sold or placed directly with an investor without being underwritten by an underwriter or an investment banker.

Project: means the development or property commonly referred to as [_____].

<u>Proof of Ownership</u>: means a current title commitment showing ownership and all encumbrances on all properties within the Initial District Boundaries, or other documentation acceptable to the City Attorney.

<u>Public Improvements</u>: means a part or all of the improvements authorized to be planned, designed, acquired, constructed, installed, relocated, redeveloped as part of an Approved Development Plan and financed as generally described in the Special District Act, except as specifically limited in Section V below to serve the future taxpayers and inhabitants of the Service Area as determined by the Board of the District.

<u>Residential District</u>: means any one of the [_____] Metropolitan District Nos.

Residential Districts: means District Nos. [___], collectively.

Service Area: means the property within the Initial District Boundary Map and the Inclusion Area Boundary Map.

Service Plan: means this service plan for the Districts approved by City Council.

<u>Service Plan Amendment</u>: means an amendment to the Service Plan approved by City Council in accordance with Chapter 13.50 of the Municipal Code and the applicable state law.

Special District Act: means Section 32-1-101, et seq., of the Colorado Revised Statutes, as amended from time to time.

State: means the State of Colorado.

Taxing Districts: means District Nos. [____].

III. BOUNDARIES

The area of the Initial District Boundaries includes approximately [___] acres [and the total area proposed to be included in the Inclusion Area Boundaries is approximately [___] acres]. A legal description of the Initial District Boundaries [and the Inclusion Area Boundaries] is attached hereto as **Exhibit A**. A map of the Initial District Boundaries is attached hereto as **Exhibit C-1**, [and a map of the Inclusion Area Boundaries is attached hereto as **Exhibit C-2**]. Proof of Ownership and consents of the owners to organization of the District for all properties within the Initial District Boundaries is attached hereto as **Exhibit C-3**. A vicinity map is attached hereto as **Exhibit B**. It is anticipated that the boundaries of the Districts may change from time to time as the Project is developed and as the Districts undergo inclusions and exclusions pursuant to Section 32-1-401, <u>et seq.</u>, C.R.S., and Section 32-1-501, <u>et seq.</u>, C.R.S., subject to the limitations set forth in Article V below.

IV. <u>PROPOSED LAND USE/POPULATION PROJECTIONS/ASSESSED</u> <u>VALUATION</u>

The Service Area consists of approximately [___] acres of [____] land. The current assessed valuation of the Service Area is assumed to be \$0.00 for purposes of this Service Plan and, at build out, is expected to be sufficient to reasonably discharge the Debt under the Financial Plan. The residential population of the District at build-out is estimated to be approximately [___] persons. (OR) The non-residential density of the District at build-out estimated to be approximately [___] square feet.

Approval of this Service Plan by the City does not imply approval of the development of a specific area within the Districts, nor does it imply approval of the number of residential units or the total site/floor area of commercial or industrial buildings which may be identified in this Service Plan or any of the exhibits attached thereto. The permitted level of development within the Project is as contained within an Approved Development Plan.

Approval of this Service Plan by the City in no way releases or relieves the developer of the Project, or the landowner or any subdivider of the Project property, or any of their respective successors or assigns, of obligations to construct public improvements for the Project or of obligations to provide to the City such financial guarantees as may be required by the City to ensure the completion of the Public Improvements, or of any other obligations to the City under the Municipal Code or any applicable annexation agreement, subdivision agreement, or other agreements affecting the Project property or development thereof.

V. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED POWERS, IMPROVEMENTS AND SERVICES

A. Powers of the Districts and Service Plan Amendment.

The Districts shall have the power and authority to provide the Public Improvements within and without the boundaries of the Districts as such power and authority is described in the Special District Act, and other applicable statutes, common law and the Constitution, subject to the limitations set forth in this Service Plan and the Intergovernmental Agreement.

1. <u>Operations and Maintenance Limitation</u>. The purpose of the Districts is to plan for, design, acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop and finance the Public Improvements. The Districts shall maintain the Public Improvements in a manner consistent with the Approved Development Plan, other rules and regulations of the City, and applicable provisions of the Municipal Code, all as directed by the City. The City may consider whether to accept dedication of Public Improvements to the City upon 50% build-out of the development of each phase of the Project as identified in the Approved Development Plan. The Districts shall be authorized to operate and maintain all of the Public Improvements at a level equal to or greater than City standards, unless such authorization is specifically limited in the Intergovernmental Agreement.

2. <u>Fire Protection Limitation</u>. The Districts shall not be authorized to plan for, design, acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop, finance, operate or maintain fire protection facilities or services, unless such facilities and services are provided pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement with the City and Union Colony Fire and Rescue Authority. The authority to plan for, design, acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop or finance fire hydrants and related improvements installed as part of the water system shall not be limited by this provision.

3. <u>Television Relay and Translation Limitation</u>. The Districts shall not be authorized to plan for, design, acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop, finance, operate or maintain television relay and translation facilities and services, other than for the installation of conduit as a part of a street construction project, unless such facilities and services are provided for use by City-authorized franchise operators pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement with the City.

4. <u>Construction Standards Limitation</u>. The Districts will ensure that the Public Improvements are designed and constructed in accordance with the standards and specifications of the City and of federal and state governmental entities having proper jurisdiction and of those special districts that qualify as "interested persons" under Section 32-1-204(1), C.R.S., as applicable. The Districts will obtain the City's approval of civil engineering plans and will obtain applicable permits for construction and installation of Public Improvements prior to performing such work. Additionally, the District will permit City inspectors to inspect the infrastructure during construction.

5. <u>Property Acquisition Limitation; Transfer Requirement</u>. The District shall not exercise any power of eminent domain without the prior written consent of the City. If the City decides the proposed improvement is needed, at the time of dedication the District shall at

no expense to the City, transfer to the City all rights-of-way, fee interests and easements that the City determines are necessary for access to and operation and maintenance of the Public Improvements, consistent with the Approved Development Plan and to the extent such interests have not been acquired by the City through such Development Plan process.

6. <u>Privately Placed Debt Limitation</u>. Prior to the issuance of any Privately Placed Debt, the Districts shall obtain the certification by the District's Investment Banker for such Debt substantially as follows:

We [I] certify that (1) the net effective interest rate (calculated as defined in Section 32-1-103(12), C.R.S.) to be borne by the District for the [insert the designation of the Debt] does not exceed a market [tax-exempt] [taxable] interest rate, using criteria deemed appropriate by us [me] and based upon our [my] analysis of comparable high yield securities; and (2) the structure of [insert designation of the Debt], including maturities and early redemption provisions, is reasonable considering the financial circumstances of the District.

7. <u>Inclusion and Exclusion Limitations</u>. The Districts shall not include within any of their boundaries any property outside the Service Area without the prior written consent of the City Council. The District shall not exclude any property from the District if such exclusion will result, or is reasonably anticipated to result, in detriment to the remaining residents and taxpayers within the District, or to the District's bondholders.

8. <u>Initial Debt Limitation</u>. On or before the effective date of approval of an Approved Development Plan, the Districts shall not: (a) issue any Debt; nor (b) impose a mill levy for the payment of Debt by direct imposition or by transfer of funds from the operating fund to the Debt service funds; nor (c) impose or collect any fees or revenues from any other source for the purpose of repayment of Debt.

 9.
 Total Debt Issuance Limitation. The Districts shall not issue Debt in excess of \$[_____] total aggregate principal amount.

10. <u>Monies from Other Governmental Sources</u>. The Districts shall not apply for or accept Conservation Trust Funds, Great Outdoors Colorado Funds, or other funds available from or through governmental or non-profit entities for which the City is eligible to apply for, except as may be specifically authorized in an intergovernmental agreement with the City pursuant to Section 13.50.080 of the Municipal Code. This Section shall not apply to specific ownership taxes which shall be distributed to and constitute a revenue source for the Districts without any limitation.

11. <u>Consolidation Limitation</u>. No District shall not file a request with any Court to consolidate with any other Title 32 district, whether one of Districts or otherwise, without the prior written consent of the City.

12. <u>Bankruptcy Limitation</u>. All of the limitations contained in this Service Plan, including, but not limited to, those pertaining to the Maximum Debt Mill Levy, the total debt issuance limitation, and the Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term have been established under the authority of the City to approve a Service Plan with conditions pursuant to Section 32-1-204.5, C.R.S. It is expressly intended that such limitations:

(a) shall not be subject to set-aside for any reason or by any court of competent jurisdiction, absent a Service Plan Amendment; and

(b) are, together with all other requirements of Colorado law, included in the "political or governmental powers" reserved to the State under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (11 U.S.C.) Section 903, and are also included in the "regulatory or electoral approval necessary under applicable nonbankruptcy law" as required for confirmation of a Chapter 9 Bankruptcy Plan under Bankruptcy Code Section 943(b)(6).

Any Debt, issued with a pledge or which results in a pledge, that exceeds the Maximum Debt Mill Levy or the Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term, shall be deemed a material modification of this Service Plan pursuant to Section 32-1-207, C.R.S. and shall not be an authorized issuance of Debt unless and until such material modification has been approved by the City as part of a Service Plan Amendment.

13. <u>Revenue Bond Limitation</u>. The Districts shall not issue revenue bonds, except as set forth in this Section. Prior to issuing any revenue bonds, the District or Districts proposing to issue such revenue bonds shall submit all relevant details of such issuance to the City Council, which may elect to treat the issuance of revenue bonds as a material modification of the Service Plan. If the City Council determines that the issuance of revenue bonds constitutes a material modification of the Service Plan, the Districts shall proceed to amend the Service Plan in accordance with Section 32-1-207, C.R.S. prior to issuing any revenue bonds.

14. <u>Service Plan Amendment Requirement</u>. This Service Plan is general in nature and does not include specific detail in some instances because development plans have not been finalized. The Service Plan has been designed with sufficient flexibility to enable the Districts to provide required Public Improvements under evolving circumstances without the need for numerous amendments. Modification of the general types of services and facilities making up the Public Improvements, and changes in proposed configurations, locations or dimensions of the Public Improvements shall be permitted to accommodate development needs consistent with the then-current Approved Development Plan(s) for the Project, subject to the limitations of this Service Plan and the Intergovernmental Agreement.

The Districts are independent units of local government, separate and distinct from the City, and their activities are subject to review by the City only insofar as they may deviate in a material manner from the requirements of the Service Plan, the Municipal Code, or the Intergovernmental Agreement. Any District may amend this Service Plan without the permission or consent of the remaining Districts, to the extent that the Service Plan amendment affects only that District initiating the statutory amendment process. However, actions of any District which: (1) violate the limitations set forth in Sections V.A.1-14 above; (2) violate the limitations set forth in Section VI.B.; (3) constitute a material modification of the Service Plan; or (4) constitutes a failure to comply with the Intergovernmental Agreement or other agreement with the City, which non-compliance has not been waived in writing by the City, shall be

deemed to be a material modification to this Service Plan and the City shall be entitled to all remedies available under State and local law to enjoin such action(s) of the Districts.

Any City approval requirements contained in this Service Plan (including, without limitation, any provisions requiring that a change, request, occurrence, act or omission be treated as a Service Plan Amendment or be deemed a "material modification" of the Service Plan) shall remain in full force and effect, and, unless otherwise provided by resolution of the City Council, such City approval shall continue to be required, notwithstanding any future change in law modifying or repealing any statutory provision concerning service plans, amendments thereof or modifications thereto.

B. Capital Plan.

The Districts shall have authority to provide for the planning, design, acquisition, construction, installation, relocation, redevelopment, maintenance, and financing of the Public Improvements within and without the boundaries of the Districts, to be more specifically defined in an Approved Development Plan. A Capital Plan, including: (1) a comprehensive list of the Public Improvements to be developed by the Districts; (2) an estimate of the cost of the Public Improvements, together with a letter from a Colorado professional registered engineer certifying that such costs are reasonable in the engineer's opinion and that such estimates were prepared based upon City construction standards; and (3) a pro forma capital expenditure plan correlating expenditures with development is attached hereto as Exhibit D. A Map depicting the Public Improvements is attached hereto as Exhibit E. As shown in the Capital Plan, the estimated cost of the Public Improvements which may be planned for, designed, acquired, constructed, installed, relocated, redeveloped, maintained or financed by the Districts is approximately]. Costs of required Public Improvements that cannot be financed by the \$[Districts within the parameters of this Service Plan and the financial capability of the District are expected to be financed by the developer of the Project.

The Districts shall be permitted to allocate costs between such categories of the Public Improvements as deemed necessary in their discretion.

All of the Public Improvements described herein will be designed in such a way as to assure that the Public Improvements standards will be compatible with those of the City and shall be in accordance with the requirements of City standards and the Approved Development Plan. All descriptions of the Public Improvements to be constructed, and their related costs, are estimates only and are subject to modification as engineering, development plans, economics, the City's requirements, and construction scheduling may require. Upon approval of this Service Plan, the Districts will continue to develop and refine the Capital Plan and the Map Depicting Public Improvements, as necessary, and prepare for issuance of Debt. All cost estimates will be inflated to then-current dollars at the time of the issuance of Debt and construction. All construction cost estimates contained in **Exhibit D** assume construction to applicable standards and specifications of the City and state or federal requirements.

C. <u>Multiple District Structure.</u>

It is anticipated that the Districts, collectively, will undertake the financing and construction of the Public Improvements. It is generally anticipated that the Districts will undertake the financing and construction of Public Improvements in sequential order (i.e., District No. 1 will proceed with initial construction, then District No. 2, etc.), share certain Public Improvement costs. The nature of the functions and services to be provided by each District, and the mechanisms by which the Districts may cooperatively fund Public Improvement costs, shall be clarified in an intergovernmental agreement among the Districts. The intergovernmental agreement among the Districts, and all amendments thereto, shall be designed to help assure the orderly development of the Public Improvements and essential services in accordance with the requirements of this Service Plan. Implementation of such intergovernmental agreement and all amendments thereto, as well as all other intergovernmental agreements and all amendments thereto, as well as all other intergovernmental agreements and all amendments thereto, as well as all other intergovernmental agreements and amendments thereto, as well as all other intergovernmental agreements and amendments thereto, as well as all other intergovernmental agreements and amendments thereto proposed between or among the Districts regarding the subject matter of this Service Plan, shall be subject to review and approval of the City prior to their execution by the Districts.

VI. FINANCIAL PLAN

A. General.

The Districts shall be authorized to provide for the planning, design, acquisition, construction, installation, relocation and/or redevelopment of the Public Improvements from their revenues and by and through the proceeds of Debt to be issued by the Districts. The Financial Plan for the Districts shall be to issue such Debt as the Districts can reasonably pay from revenues derived from the Maximum Debt Mill Levy and other legally available revenues. All bonds and other Debt issued by the Districts may be payable from any and all legally available revenues of the Districts, including general *ad valorem* taxes to be imposed upon all taxable property within the Districts. The Districts will also rely upon various other revenue sources authorized by law, such as interest, specific ownership taxes, advances from the Project developer and grants. The District is also authorized to assess and collect a District Facility Fee as set forth in Section VI.E., below. Unless specifically authorized in the Intergovernmental Agreement, the District Facility Fee without first obtaining City approval of an amendment to this Service Plan, which amendment shall be deemed to be a material modification hereof.

The total Debt that the Districts shall be permitted to issue shall not exceed $[_]$ in aggregate principal amount. Debt is permitted to be issued on a schedule and in such year or years as the issuing District determines shall meet the needs of the Capital Plan referenced above and the progression of the development, subject to compliance with this Service Plan. The $[_]$ that the Districts shall be permitted to issue is supported by the Financial Plan prepared by $[_]$ (*name of District's Underwriter or certified public accountant*), attached hereto as **Exhibit F**. The City may obtain an independent certification at the District's sole cost from an independent CPA or other financial consultant of the City's choosing, experienced in advising governmental entities on matters

relating to the issuance of securities in Colorado regarding the financial plan and the reasonableness of the projections contained in the financial plan.

B. Maximum Voted Interest Rate and Maximum Underwriting Discount.

The interest rate on any Debt is limited to the market rate at the time the Debt is issued. In the event of a default, the proposed maximum interest rate on any Debt is not expected to *shall not* exceed twelve *eighteen* percent ($12\ 18\%$). The proposed maximum underwriting discount will be *fourfive* percent (45%). Debt, when issued, will comply with all relevant requirements of this Service Plan, State law and Federal law as then applicable to the issuance of public securities.

C. <u>Maximum Debt Mill Levy.</u>

The Maximum Debt Mill Levy shall be the maximum mill levy a District is permitted to impose upon the taxable property within such District for payment of Debt imposed by the District, and shall be determined as follows:

1. For the portion of any aggregate Debt which exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the District's assessed valuation, *tThe* Maximum Debt Mill Levy for such portion of Debt shall be fifty (50) seventy (70) mills less the number of mills necessary to pay unlimited mill levy Debt described in Section VI.C.2. below and less the number of mills-imposed by the District for operations and maintenance purposedpurposes; provided that if, on or after January 1, 2007, there are changes in the method of calculating assessed valuation or any constitutionally mandated tax credit, cut or abatement; the mill levy limitation applicable to such Debt may be increased or decreased to reflect such changes, such increases or decreases to be determined by the Board in good faith (such determination to be binding and final) so that to the extent possible, the actual tax revenues generated by the mill levy, as adjusted for changes. For purposes of the foregoing, a change in the ratio of actual valuation shall be deemed to be a change in the method of calculation shall be deemed to be a change in the method of calculation.

2. For the portion of any aggregate Debt which is equal to or less than fifty percent (50%) of the District's assessed valuation, either on the date of issuance or at any time thereafter, the Maximum Debt Mill Levy shall be such mill levy as is necessary to pay the Debt service on such Debt, without limitation of rate.

3. **2.** For purposes of the foregoing, once Debt has been determined to be within Section VI.C.2. above, so that the District is entitled to pledge to its payment an unlimited *ad valorem* mill levy, such District may provide that such Debt shall remain secured by such unlimited mill levy, notwithstanding any subsequent change in such District's Debt to assessed ratio. All Debt issued by the Districts must be issued in compliance with all requirements of State law.

To the extent that the Districts are composed of or subsequently organized into one or more subdistricts as permitted under Section 32-1-1101, C.R.S., the term "**District**" as used in this Section shall be deemed to refer to the District and to each such subdistrict separately, so

that each of the subdistricts shall be treated as a separate, independent district for purposes of the application of this definition.

Nothing herein shall prevent the District from covenanting with Debt holders or others to limit the amount of its operations and maintenance mill levy, as long as all district operations and maintenance requirements are met as required by VI.H. below.

D. Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term for Residential Districts.

No Residential District shall impose a levy for repayment of any and all Debt (or use the proceeds of any mill levy for repayment of Debt) which exceeds forty (40) years after the year of the initial imposition of such mill levy unless a majority of the Board of Directors of the District imposing the mill levy. *Which Board of Directors shall include at least three homeowners residing in the District*, have voted in favor of a refunding of a part or all of the Debt and such refunding will result in a net present value savings as set forth in Section 11-56-101, C.R.S. <u>et seq</u>.

E. Debt Repayment Sources.

Each of the Districts may impose a mill levy on taxable property within its boundaries as a primary source of revenue for repayment of debt service and for operations and maintenance. In no event shall the debt service mill levy in any District exceed the Maximum Debt Mill Levy or, in any Residential District, the Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term.

The Districts may also collect a *one-time* District Facility Fee *for capital improvements*, provided that such fee does not exceed the following limits:

 1.
 For each single-family detached residential unit, the District Facility Fee

 shall not exceed [_____] Dollars (\$[_____]).

2. For each single-family attached or multi-family residential unit, the District Facility Fee shall not exceed [____] Dollars (\$[____]).

3. For a structure other than a single-family or multi-family residential structure, the District Facility Fee shall not exceed [____] (\$[___]) per square foot of the structure.

4. The District Facility Fee set forth in this Service Plan may increase by up to the Consumer Price Index for Greeley, all items, all urban consumers (or its successor index for any years for which Consumer Price Index is not available) each year thereafter (as an inflation adjustment) commencing on January 1, 20[___]. The District Facility Fee shall be collected by the District prior to issuance of a Building Permit. Unless specifically authorized in the Intergovernmental Agreement, the District shall not impose or assess any fees, rates, tolls, penalties, or charges other than the District Facility Fee, as limited above, without first obtaining City approval of an amendment to this Service Plan, which amendment shall be deemed to be a material modification hereof.

F. Security for Debt.

The Districts shall not pledge any revenue, property or other assets of the City as security for any District indebtedness. Approval of this Service Plan shall not be construed as a guarantee by the City of payment of any of the District's obligations; nor shall anything in the Service Plan be construed so as to create any responsibility or liability on the part of the City in the event of default by the Districts in the payment of any such obligation.

G. TABOR Compliance.

The Districts will comply with the provisions of TABOR. In the discretion of the Board, the Districts may set up enterprises or nonprofit entities to manage, fund, construct and operate facilities, services and programs. To the extent allowed by law, any entity created by the Districts will remain under the control of the District's Boards. The activities of such enterprises and entities shall comply with the provisions of this Service Plan.

H. Districts' Organizational Costs.

The estimated cost of engineering services, legal services and administrative services, in connection with the District's organization, are anticipated to be \$[____], which will be eligible for reimbursement from Debt proceeds.

In addition to the capital costs of the Public Improvements, the Districts will require operating funds for administration and to plan and cause the Public Improvements to be constructed and maintained, if such maintenance is addressed in the Intergovernmental Agreement. The first year's operating budget is estimated to be \$[____], which is anticipated to be derived from funding advances by the developer of the Project until such time as the District's operating mill levy revenues are sufficient to operate the District.

The Districts may impose an operations mill levy as necessary to operate the Districts and for provision of operation and maintenance services to their taxpayers and/or service users at a level equal to or greater than City standards. The authorized mill levy for operations and maintenance activities shall be included within the Maximum Debt Mill Levy.

I. Subdistricts.

Any District may organize subdistricts or areas as allowed by Section 32-1-1101(1)(f), C.R.S., *with the prior approval of the City Council* provided, however, that without the approval of the City, any such subdistrict(s) or area(s) shall be subject all limitations on debt and other provisions of the Service Plan. In accordance with Section 32-1-1101(1)(f)(I), C.R.S., the District shall notify the City prior to establishing any such subdistrict(s) or area(s), and shall provide the City with details regarding the purpose, location, and relationship of the subdistrict(s) or area(s). The City Council may elect to treat the organization of any such subdistrict(s) or area(s) as a material modification of the Service Plan.

VII. ANNUAL REPORT

A. <u>General.</u> Each of the Districts shall file an annual report with the City Clerk not later than September 1 of each calendar year, which annual report shall reflect activity and

financial events of the District through the preceding December 31 (the "report year"). Annual reports shall be provided by each of the Districts, each year.

B. <u>Reporting of Significant Events.</u>

The annual report shall include the following:

1. A narrative summary of the progress of the District in implementing its Service Plan for the report year;

2. Except when exemption from audit has been granted for the report year under the Local Government Audit Law, the audited financial statements of the District for the report year including a statement of financial condition (i.e., balance sheet) as of December 31 of the report year and the statement of operations (i.e., revenues and expenditures) for the report year or a copy of the audit exemption application;

3. Unless disclosed within a separate schedule to the financial statements, a summary of the capital expenditures incurred by the District in development of Public Improvements in the report year, as well as any Public Improvements proposed to be undertaken in the five (5) years following the report year;

4. Unless disclosed within a separate schedule to the financial statements, a summary of the financial obligations of the District at the end of the report year, including the amount of outstanding Debt, the amount and terms of any new Debt issued in the report year, the amount of payment or retirement of existing Debt of the District in the report year, the total assessed valuation of all taxable properties within the District as of January 1 of the report year and the current mill levy of the District pledged to Debt retirement in the report year;

5. A summary of the residential and commercial development in the District for the report year;

6. A summary of all fees, charges and assessments imposed by the District as of January 1 of the report year;

7. Certification of the Board that no action, event or condition has occurred in the report year, or certification that such event has occurred but that an amendment to the Service Plan that allows such event has been approved by City Council; and

8. The name, business address and telephone number of each member of the Board and its chief administrative officer and general counsel, together with the date, place and time of the regular meetings of the Board.

In addition, the Districts shall submit to the City, by January 15 of each year, the District's budget for the then current calendar year.

VIII. DISTRICT INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CITY; DISSOLUTION OF THE DISTRICT

Upon an independent determination of the City Council and written notice to the Districts that the purposes for which the Districts were created have been accomplished, the Districts agree to file petitions in the District Court for and in Weld County, Colorado, for dissolution, pursuant to the applicable State statutes. In no event shall dissolution occur until the Districts have provided for the payment or discharge of all of their outstanding indebtedness and other financial obligations as required pursuant to State statutes.

There is attached hereto as <u>**Exhibit G**</u> the Project Developer's Indemnification Letter, which is submitted to the City by the Developer as part of this Service Plan. The District shall approve and execute the Indemnification Letter at its first Board meeting after its organizational election, in the same form as the Indemnification Letter set forth in <u>**Exhibit G**</u> and shall promptly deliver an executed original to the City.

IX. <u>DISCLOSURES REQUIRED TO PURCHASERS OF PROPERTY WITHIN THE</u> <u>DISTRICT</u>

The City wants purchasers of property within the District to be aware of the additional tax burden to be imposed. The City mandates early written and recorded notice of the total (overlapping) tax burden, including the Maximum Debt Mill Levy, the District Facility Fee and the Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term, as applicable. The City will review the type and timing of the disclosure, which the proponents of the Districts are proposing. The notice shall be recorded against all property within the Districts prior to the Districts' certification of the formation of the District to the Colorado Division of Local Government as required by Section 32-1-306, C.R.S.

In addition to the above notice and the requirements of Ordinance 13.50.090, the District shall annually provide a written disclosure to all land owners within the District that describes the tax levies, fees and costs that have been assessed to each property in the District as a result of implementation of the District's Financial Plan stated in Article VI or this Service Plan. A copy of such disclosure sent to each landowner shall also be forwarded to the City of Greeley to be included in its public records related to the District.

X. INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT

The form of the intergovernmental agreement relating to the limitations imposed on the Districts' activities, is attached hereto as **Exhibit H**. The Districts shall approve and execute the Intergovernmental Agreement at their first Board meeting following their organizational election, in the same form as the Intergovernmental Agreement approved by the City Council, and shall promptly deliver an executed original to the City. Failure of the Districts to execute the Intergovernmental Agreement as required herein shall constitute a material modification. The City Council shall approve an intergovernmental agreement at the public hearing approving the Service Plan.

As limited by this Article X, the Districts may enter into an intergovernmental agreement regarding the functions and services to be provided by each District, and the mechanisms to be

used by the Districts for the sharing of costs of Public Improvements. Such intergovernmental agreement and all amendments thereto, as well as all other intergovernmental agreements and amendments thereto proposed between or among the Districts regarding the subject matter of this Service Plan, shall be subject to review and comment by the city prior to their execution by the Districts. If entered into by the Districts, the Districts shall cause any intergovernmental agreements to be delivered to the City as soon as practicable upon formation of the Districts. The Districts shall also deliver promptly the Districts' execution fully executed and complete copies of all amendments to such intergovernmental agreement, and of all other intergovernmental agreements and amendments thereto between or among the Districts regarding the subject matter of this Service Plan.

No intergovernmental agreements other than the City Intergovernmental Agreement and the Districts' intergovernmental agreements are anticipated. The District(s) shall use all City provided infrastructure services, including but not limited to, water and sewer service, unless the City is unable or unwilling to provide such services. In the event the City is unable or unwilling to provide such services (s) may seek such infrastructure services from other providers. Except for such Intergovernmental Agreement with the City, any intergovernmental agreement proposed regarding the subject matter of this Service Plan shall be subject to review and comment by the City prior to its execution by a District.

XI. NON-COMPLIANCE WITH SERVICE PLAN

In the event it is determined that any District has undertaken any act or omission which violates the Service Plan or constitutes a material departure from the Service Plan collectively, "**Material Departure**"), the City may impose any of the sanctions set forth in the Municipal Code, including but not limited to affirmative injunctive relief to require the Districts to act in accordance with the provisions of this Service Plan. Except as it would relate to the sale or refinancing of bonds, the District hereby waives the provisions of Section 32-1-207(3)(b), C.R.S. and agrees it will not rely on such provisions as a bar to the enforcement by the City of any provisions of this Service Plan. The City will provide such District with written notice of any Material Departure from the Service Plan. The District shall have sixty (60) days to provide the City with written evidence that no Material Departure occurred, which evidence must be reasonably satisfactory to the City or to commence to cure such Material Departure. If the District is diligently pursuing the cure of such Material Departure, the City shall not take any action to enjoin the District. In the event the District fails to complete the cure or take any action to cure the Material Departure, the City may impose any sanctions allowed by municipal code or statute.

XII. CONCLUSION

It is submitted that this Service Plan for the Districts, as required by Section 32-1-203(2), C.R.S., and the Municipal Code, establishes that:

1. There is sufficient existing and projected need for organized service in the area to be serviced by the Districts;

2. The existing service in the area to be served by the Districts is inadequate for present and projected needs;

3. The Districts are capable of providing economical and sufficient service to the area within their proposed boundaries; and

4. The area to be included in the Districts does have, and will have, the financial ability to discharge the proposed indebtedness on a reasonable basis.

5. Adequate service is not, and will not be, available to the area through the City or County or other existing municipal or quasi-municipal corporations, including existing special districts, within a reasonable time and on a comparable basis.

6. The facility and service standards of the Districts are compatible with the facility and service standards of the City.

7. The proposal is in substantial compliance the City's Comprehensive Plan.

8. The proposal is in compliance with any duly adopted City, regional or state long-range water quality management plan for the area.

9. The creation of the Districts is in the best interests of the area proposed to be served.

10. The creation of the Districts is in the best interests of the residents and future residents of the area proposed to be served.

11. The proposal is in substantial compliance with the Municipal Code.

12. The proposal will not foster urban development that is remote or incapable of being integrated with existing urban areas, and will not place a burden on the City or adjacent jurisdictions to provide urban services to residents of the Districts.

EXHIBIT A

Legal Descriptions

EXHIBIT B

Greeley Vicinity Map

EXHIBIT C-1

Initial District Boundary Map

EXHIBIT C-2

Inclusion Area Boundary Map

EXHIBIT C-3

Proof of Ownership and Consents

EXHIBIT D

Capital Plan

EXHIBIT E

Map Depicting Public Improvements

EXHIBIT F

Financial Plan

EXHIBIT G

Indemnification Letters

1. Developer's Letter

{date - on or after date of Service Plan approval}

City of Greeley 1000 10th Street Greeley, CO 80631

RE: [____] Metropolitan District

To the City Council:

This Indemnification Letter (the "Letter") is delivered by the undersigned (the "Developer") in connection with the review by the City of Greeley (the "City") of the Service Plan, including all amendments heretofore or hereafter made thereto (the "Service Plan") for the [_____] Metropolitan District (the "District"). Developer, for and on behalf of itself and its transferees, successors and assigns, represents, warrants, covenants and agrees to and for the benefit of the City as follows:

Developer hereby waives and releases any present or future claims it 1. might have against the City or the City's elected or appointed officers, employees, agents, contractors or insurers (the "Released Persons") in any manner related to or connected with the Service Plan or any action or omission with respect thereto. Developer further hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Released Persons from and against any and all liabilities resulting from any and all claims, demands, suits, actions or other proceedings of whatsoever kind or nature made or brought by any third party, including attorneys' fees and expenses and court costs, which directly or indirectly or purportedly arise out of or are in any manner related to or connected with any of the following: (a) the Service Plan or any document or instrument contained or referred to therein; or (b) the formation of the District; or (c) any actions or omissions of the Developer or the District, or their agents, in connection with the District, including, without limitation, any actions or omissions of the Developer or District, or their agents, in relation to any bonds or other financial obligations of the District or any offering documents or other disclosures made in connection therewith. Developer further agrees to investigate, handle, respond to and to provide defense for and defend against, or at the City's option to pay the attorneys' fees and expenses for counsel of the City's choice for any such liabilities, claims, demands, suits, actions or other proceedings.

2. Developer hereby consents to the Debt Instrument Disclosure Requirements as set forth Section VI.F of the Service Plan, acknowledges the City's right to modify the required disclosures, and waives and releases the City from any claims Developer might have based on or relating to the use of or any statements made or to be made in such disclosures (including any modifications thereto). This Letter has been duly authorized and executed on behalf of Developer. Very truly yours,

Developer

2. District's Letter

{date - date of organizational meeting}

City of Greeley 1000 10th Street Greeley, CO 80631

RE: [____] Metropolitan District

To the City Council:

This Indemnification Letter (the "Letter") is delivered by the [____] Metropolitan District (the "District") in order to comply with the Service Plan, including all amendments heretofore or hereafter made thereto (the "Service Plan") for the District. The District, for and on behalf of itself and its transferees, successors and assigns, represents, warrants, covenants and agrees to and for the benefit of the City as follows:

1. The District hereby waives and releases any present or future claims it might have against the City or the City's elected or appointed officers, employees, agents, contractors or insurers (the "Released Persons") in any manner related to or connected with the Service Plan or any action or omission with respect thereto. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the District hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Released Persons from and against any and all liabilities resulting from any and all claims, demands, suits, actions or other proceedings of whatsoever kind or nature made or brought by any third party, including attorneys' fees and expenses and court costs, which directly or indirectly or purportedly arise out of or are in any manner related to or connected with any of the following: (a) the Service Plan or any document or instrument contained or referred to therein; or (b) the formation of the District;] (the "Developer"), or their agents, or (c) any actions or omissions of the District. in connection with the District, including, without limitation, any actions or omissions of the District or Developer, or their agents, in relation to any bonds or other financial obligations of the District or any offering documents or other disclosures made in connection therewith. The District further agrees to investigate, handle, respond to and to provide defense for and defend against, or at the City's option to pay the attorneys' fees and expenses for counsel of the City's choice for any such liabilities, claims, demands, suits, actions or other proceedings.

2. It is understood and agreed that neither the District nor the City waives or intends to waive the monetary limits (presently \$150,000 per person and \$600,000 per occurrence) or any other rights, immunities and protections provided by the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, § 24 10 101, et seq., C.R.S., as from time to time amended, or otherwise available to the City, the District, its officers, or its employees.

3. The District hereby consents to the Debt Instrument Disclosure Requirements as set forth Section VI.F of the Service Plan, acknowledges the City's right to modify the required disclosures, and waives and releases the City from any claims the District might have based on or relating to the use of or any statements made or to be made in such disclosures (including any modifications thereto).
4. This Letter has been duly authorized and executed on behalf of the

District.

Very truly yours,

[____] Metropolitan District

By:

President

Attest:

Secretary

EXHIBIT H

Intergovernmental Agreement

{00596282.DOCX v:1 }

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO AND _____] METROPOLITAN DISTRICT

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of this [___] day of [____], [__], by and between the CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO, a home-rule municipal corporation of the State of Colorado ("City"), and [____] METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado ("District"). The City and the District are collectively referred to as the Parties.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the District was organized to provide those services and to exercise powers as are more specifically set forth in the Districts' Service Plan approved by the City on [____], 20[___] ("Service Plans"); and

WHEREAS, the Service Plans make reference to the execution of an intergovernmental agreement between the City and the District; and

WHEREAS, the City and the District have determined it to be in the best interests of their respective taxpayers, residents and property owners to enter into this Intergovernmental Agreement ("Agreement").

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and mutual agreements herein contained, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as follows:

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS

Service Plan. The District will not take any action, including, without 1. limitation, the issuance of any obligations or the imposition of any tax, which would constitute a material departure from the terms of the Service Plan and a material modification thereof as set forth in §32-1-207(2), C.R.S. Actions of the District which constitute a material departure from the terms of the Service Plan and a material modification thereof as set forth in §32-1-207(2), C.R.S., shall be a default hereunder, and shall entitle the City to protect and enforce its rights hereunder by such suit, action, or special proceedings as the City shall deem appropriate, including, without limitation, an action for specific performance or damages. It is intended that the remedies hereof shall be in addition to any remedies the City may have or actions the City may bring under §32-1-207, C.R.S., or any other applicable statute. The District shall have sixty (60) days to provide the City with written evidence that no Material Departure occurred, which evidence must be reasonably satisfactory to the City or to commence to cure such Material Departure. If the District is diligently pursuing the cure of such Material Departure, the City shall not take any action to enjoin the District. In the event the District fails to complete the cure or take any action to cure the Material Departure, the City may impose any sanctions allowed by municipal code or statute. Nothing herein is intended to modify or prevent the use of the

provisions of §32-1-207(3)(b), C.R.S, however, the time limits of §32-1-207(3)(b) are expressly waived by the District.

2. <u>Notices</u>. All notices, demands, requests or other communications to be sent by one party to the other hereunder or required by law shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been validly given or served by delivery of same in person to the address or by courier delivery, via United Parcel Service or other nationally recognized overnight air courier service, or by depositing same in the United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

 To the Districts:
 [_____] Metropolitan District

 [_____]
 Attention:
 [_____]

 Attention:
 [_____]

 Fax:
 [_____]

 To the City:
 [_____]

 Attention:
 [_____]

 Attention:
 [_____]

 Fax:
 [_____]

All notices, demands, requests or other communications shall be effective upon such personal delivery or one (1) business day after being deposited with United Parcel Service or other nationally recognized overnight air courier service or three (3) business days after deposit in the United States mail. By giving the other party hereto at least ten (10) days written notice thereof in accordance with the provisions hereof, each of the Parties shall have the right from time to time to change its address.

3. <u>Entire Agreement of the Parties</u>. This written Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties and supersedes all prior written or oral agreements, negotiations, or representations and understandings of the Parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein.

4. <u>Amendment</u>. This Agreement may be amended, modified, changed, or terminated in whole or in part only by a written agreement duly authorized and executed by the Parties hereto and without amendment to the Service Plan.

5. <u>Assignment</u>. No Party hereto shall assign any of its rights nor delegate any of its duties hereunder to any person or entity without having first obtained the prior written consent of all other Parties, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld. Any purported assignment or delegation in violation of the provisions hereof shall be void and ineffectual.

6. <u>Default/Remedies</u>. In the event of a breach or default of this Agreement by any Party, the non-defaulting Parties shall be entitled to exercise all remedies available at law or in equity, specifically including suits for specific performance and/or monetary damages. In the event of any proceeding to enforce the terms, covenants or conditions hereof, the prevailing Party/Parties in such proceeding shall be entitled to obtain as part of its judgment or award its reasonable attorneys' fees.

7. <u>Governing Law and Venue</u>. This Agreement shall be governed and construed under the laws of the State of Colorado.

8. <u>Inurement</u>. Each of the terms, covenants and conditions hereof shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

9. <u>Integration</u>. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the matters addressed herein. All prior discussions and negotiations regarding the subject matter hereof are merged herein.

10. <u>Parties Interested Herein</u>. Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to confer upon, or to give to, any person other than the Districts and the City any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any covenants, terms, conditions, or provisions thereof, and all the covenants, terms, conditions, and provisions in this Agreement by and on behalf of the Districts and the City shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Districts and the City.

11. <u>Severability</u>. If any covenant, term, condition, or provision under this Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such covenant, term, condition, or provision shall not affect any other provision contained herein, the intention being that such provisions are severable.

12. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same document.

13. <u>Paragraph Headings</u>. Paragraph headings are inserted for convenience of reference only.

14. <u>Defined Terms</u>. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Service Plan.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Districts and the City have caused this Agreement to be duly executed to be effective as of the day first above written.

	[] METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
	By: President
Attest:	
Secretary	
	CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO
	By:
Attest:	
By:	-
APPROVED AS TO FORM:	

{00596282.DOCX v:1 }

CLEAN DRAFT

[DRAFT MODEL MULTIPLE DISTRICT SERVICE PLAN]

CONSOLIDATED SERVICE PLAN FOR

[_____] METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. [___]

[_____] METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. [___]

[_____] METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. [___]

[REPEAT AS NECESSARY]

CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO

Prepared

by

[NAME OF PERSON OR ENTITY] [ADDRESS] [ADDRESS]

[DATE]

{00599201.DOCX / }

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTR	ODUC	TION1
	A.	Purpos	se and Intent
	В.	Need f	for the Districts1
	C.	Object	ive of the City Regarding Districts' Service Plan1
II.	DEFI	NITIO	NS2
III.	BOUI	NDARI	ES5
IV.		POSED UATIO	LAND USE/POPULATION PROJECTIONS/ASSESSED N5
v.	DESC	CRIPTI	ON OF PROPOSED POWERS, IMPROVEMENTS AND SERVICES6
	A.	Power	s of the District and Service Plan Amendment6
		1.	Operations and Maintenance Limitation
		2.	Fire Protection Limitation
		3.	Television Relay and Translation Limitation6
		4.	Construction Standards Limitation
		5.	Property Acquisition Limitation; Transfer Requirement
		6.	Privately Placed Debt Limitation7
		7.	Inclusion and Exclusion Limitations7
		8.	Initial Debt Limitation7
		9.	Total Debt Issuance Limitation7
		10.	Monies from Other Governmental Sources7
		11.	Consolidation Limitation7
		12.	Bankruptcy Limitation7
		13.	Revenue Bond Limitation
		14.	Service Plan Amendment Requirement
	B.	Capita	l Plan9

	C.	Multiple District Structure				
VI.	FINA	NCIAL PLAN10				
	A.	General10				
	B.	Maximum Voted Interest Rate and Maximum Underwriting Discount11				
	C.	Maximum Debt Mill Levy11				
	D.	Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term for Residential Districts11				
	E.	Debt Repayment Sources				
	F.	Security for Debt				
	G.	TABOR Compliance				
	Н.	Districts' Organizational Costs				
	I.	Subdistricts				
VII.	ANNU	UAL REPORT13				
	A.	General				
	B.	Reporting of Significant Events				
VIII.		RICT INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CITY; DISSOLUTION OF THE RICT				
IX.		LOSURES REQUIRED TO PURCHASERS OF PROPERTY WITHIN THE RICT15				
X.	INTE	RGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT15				
XI.	NON-COMPLIANCE WITH SERVICE PLAN					
XII.	CON	CLUSION				

LIST OF EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT A	Legal Descriptions
EXHIBIT B	Greeley Vicinity Map
EXHIBIT C-1	Initial District Boundary Map
EXHIBIT C-2	Inclusion Area Boundary Map
EXHIBIT C-3	Proof of Ownership and Consents for all Properties within Districts
EXHIBIT D	Capital Plan and Engineer's Certificate
EXHIBIT E	Map Depicting Public Improvements
EXHIBIT F	Financial Plan
EXHIBIT G	Indemnification Letters
EXHIBIT H	Intergovernmental Agreement

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Purpose and Intent.

The Districts are independent units of local government, separate and distinct from the City, and, except as may otherwise be provided for by State or local law or this Service Plan, their activities are subject to review by the City only insofar as they may deviate in a material matter from the requirements of the Service Plan Districts shall strictly comply with the Municipal Code and the Intergovernmental Agreement. It is intended that the Districts will provide a part or all of the Public Improvements for the use and benefit of all anticipated inhabitants, taxpayers of the Districts, and the general public. The primary purpose of the Districts will be to finance the construction of these Public Improvements.

The District is also being created to provide ongoing operations and maintenance services as specifically set forth in this Service Plan and as may be stated in any applicable Intergovernmental Agreement.

B. Need for the Districts.

There are currently no other governmental entities, including the City, located in the immediate vicinity of the Districts that consider it desirable, feasible or practical to undertake the planning, design, acquisition, construction, installation, relocation, redevelopment, and financing of the Public Improvements needed for the Project. Formation of the Districts is therefore necessary in order for the Public Improvements required for the Project to be provided in the most economic manner possible.

C. Objective of the City Regarding Districts' Service Plan.

The City's objective in approving the Service Plan for the Districts is to authorize the Districts to provide for the planning, design, acquisition, construction, installation, relocation, redevelopment and financing of the Public Improvements from the proceeds of Debt to be issued by the Districts. All Debt is expected to be repaid by *ad valorem* property taxes and District Facility Fees imposed and collected for no longer than the Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term for Residential Districts and at a tax mill levy no higher than the Maximum Debt Mill Levy. Debt which is issued within these parameters (as further described in the Financial Plan) will insulate property owners from excessive tax burdens to support the servicing of the Debt and will result in a timely and reasonable discharge of the Debt.

This Service Plan is intended to establish a limited purpose for the Districts and explicit financial constraints that are not to be violated under any circumstances. The primary purpose of the Districts is to provide for the Public Improvements associated with the Project, including those regional improvements necessitated by the Project. The Districts shall be authorized to operate and maintain all of the Public Improvements at a level equal to or greater than City standards, unless such authorization is specifically limited in the Intergovernmental Agreement.

It is the intent of the Districts to dissolve upon payment or defeasance of all Debt incurred or upon a court determination that adequate provision has been made for the payment of all Debt, and if any District has authorized operating functions under an intergovernmental agreement with the City, to retain only the power necessary to impose and collect taxes or fees to pay for these costs.

It is a requirement of this Service Plan that all property classified as "residential" shall be located in a Residential District, and that all property classified as "commercial" shall be located within the boundaries of the Commercial District. Mixed uses, as defined by the Municipal Code, shall be classified as "commercial" and shall be located only within the boundaries of the Commercial District. For purposes of this distinction "commercial property" shall mean all property other than "residential property" as that term is defined in Article X, Section 3(1)(b) of the Colorado Constitution. The goal of this distinction is to have similarly situated properties governed by common interests. As such, no commercial property shall be located in a Residential District, and no residential property, other than mixed uses, shall be located in a Commercial District. The foregoing shall not prohibit the Residential and Commercial Districts from sharing the costs of Public Improvement in compliance with the provisions of this Service Plan and applicable law.

The Districts shall be authorized to finance the Public Improvements that can be funded from Debt to be repaid from tax revenues collected from a mill levy which shall not exceed the Maximum Debt Mill Levy. It is the intent of this Service Plan to assure to the extent possible that no property in any District bear an economic burden that is greater in amount than that associated with the Maximum Debt Mill Levy, and that no property in a Residential District bears an economic burden that is longer in duration than that associated with the Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term in duration, even under bankruptcy or other unusual situations. Generally, the cost of Public Improvements that cannot be funded within these parameters and the financing capacity of the Districts are not costs to be paid by the Districts. Costs of required Public Improvements that cannot be financed by the District are expected to be financed by the developer of the Project.

II. DEFINITIONS

In this Service Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated below, unless the context hereof clearly requires otherwise:

<u>Approved Development Plan</u>: means a development plan or other process established by the City (including but not limited to approval of a final plat, development plat or site plan by the City planning commission or by the City Council) identifying, among other things, the Public Improvements necessary for facilitating development for property within the Service Area as approved by the City pursuant to the Municipal Code and as amended pursuant to the Municipal Code from time to time. An Approved Development Plan does not include any plan, process or approval denoted as preliminary under the Municipal Code. (To the extent the type of Development Plan has been determined for the Project, this definition should be revised accordingly.)

<u>Board</u>: means the board of directors of one District or the boards of directors of all Districts, in the aggregate, as the context may require.

Bond, Bonds or Debt: means bonds or other obligations for the payment of which the District has promised to impose an *ad valorem* property tax mill levy.

<u>Capital Plan</u>: means the Capital Plan described in Section V.B., which includes: (a) a comprehensive list of the Public Improvements to be developed by the Districts; (b) an engineer's estimate of the cost of the Public Improvements; and (c) a pro forma capital expenditure plan correlating expenditures with development.

City: means the City of Greeley, Colorado.

City Council: means the City Council of the City of Greeley, Colorado.

Commercial District: means the [_____] Metropolitan District No. [___].

District: means any one of the [_____] Metropolitan District No. [___] through No. [___].

District No. 1: means the [_____] Metropolitan District No. 1

District No. 2: means the [_____] Metropolitan District No. 2.

District No. 3: means the [_____] Metropolitan District No. 3.

[repeat as necessary]

Districts: means District No. 1 and District No. [___] and [___], collectively.

<u>District Facility Fee</u>: means the one-time development or system development fee imposed by the Districts on a per-unit (*residential*) or per square-foot (*non-residential*) basis at or prior to the issuance of a building permit for the unit or structure to assist with the planning and development of the Public Improvements, subject to the limitations set forth in Section VI.E. of the Service Plan. The District Facility Fee may be used to finance, plan, acquire, and construct the Public Improvements, and pay debt service.

<u>Financial Plan</u>: means the Financial Plan described in Section VI which describes (a) how the Public Improvements are to be financed; (b) the total amount of Debt anticipated to be issued by the Districts based on estimated buildout projections; (c) the estimated operating revenue and expenses for the Districts for the term of the Debt; (d) the estimated debt service revenue sources and payment requirements on all Debt anticipated to be issued by the Districts; and (e) the assumptions regarding all such information.

Inclusion Area Boundaries: means the boundaries of the area described in the Inclusion Area Boundary Map.

<u>Inclusion Area Boundary Map</u>: means the map attached hereto as <u>Exhibit C-2</u>, describing the property proposed for inclusion within one, but not any more than one, of the boundaries of the Districts after organization, if any.

Initial District Boundary: means the boundary of the area described in the Initial District Boundary Map.

<u>Initial District Boundary Map</u>: means the map attached hereto as <u>Exhibit C-1</u>, describing the initial boundary of the Districts.

Intergovernmental Agreement: means the intergovernmental agreement required by Municipal Code section 13.50.170(5), and attached hereto as **Exhibit G**.

<u>Map Depicting Public Improvements</u>: means the map attached hereto as <u>Exhibit E</u>, showing the location(s) of the Public Improvements listed in the Capital Plan.

Maximum Debt Mill Levy: means the maximum mill levy a District is permitted to impose for payment of Debt, as set forth in Section VI.C. below.

<u>Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term</u>: means the maximum term for imposition of a mill levy on property within a Residential District as set forth in Section VI.D., below.

<u>Municipal Code</u>: means the City of Greeley Municipal Code, as may be amended and in effect from time to time.

Operating District: means District No. 1.

<u>Privately Placed Debt</u>: means Debt which is sold or placed directly with an investor without being underwritten by an underwriter or an investment banker.

Project: means the development or property commonly referred to as [_____].

<u>Proof of Ownership</u>: means a current title commitment showing ownership and all encumbrances on all properties within the Initial District Boundaries, or other documentation acceptable to the City Attorney.

<u>Public Improvements</u>: means a part or all of the improvements authorized to be planned, designed, acquired, constructed, installed, relocated, redeveloped as part of an Approved Development Plan and financed as generally described in the Special District Act, except as specifically limited in Section V below to serve the future taxpayers and inhabitants of the Service Area as determined by the Board of the District.

<u>Residential District</u>: means any one of the [_____] Metropolitan District Nos. [___].

Residential Districts: means District Nos. [___], collectively.

<u>Service Area</u>: means the property within the Initial District Boundary Map and the Inclusion Area Boundary Map.

Service Plan: means this service plan for the Districts approved by City Council.

<u>Service Plan Amendment</u>: means an amendment to the Service Plan approved by City Council in accordance with Chapter 13.50 of the Municipal Code and the applicable state law.

Special District Act: means Section 32-1-101, et seq., of the Colorado Revised Statutes, as amended from time to time.

State: means the State of Colorado.

Taxing Districts: means District Nos. [____].

III. BOUNDARIES

The area of the Initial District Boundaries includes approximately [___] acres [and the total area proposed to be included in the Inclusion Area Boundaries is approximately [___] acres]. A legal description of the Initial District Boundaries [and the Inclusion Area Boundaries] is attached hereto as **Exhibit A**. A map of the Initial District Boundaries is attached hereto as **Exhibit C-1**, [and a map of the Inclusion Area Boundaries is attached hereto as **Exhibit C-2**]. Proof of Ownership and consents of the owners to organization of the District for all properties within the Initial District Boundaries is attached hereto as **Exhibit C-3**. A vicinity map is attached hereto as **Exhibit B**. It is anticipated that the boundaries of the Districts may change from time to time as the Project is developed and as the Districts undergo inclusions and exclusions pursuant to Section 32-1-401, et seq., C.R.S., and Section 32-1-501, et seq., C.R.S., subject to the limitations set forth in Article V below.

IV. <u>PROPOSED LAND USE/POPULATION PROJECTIONS/ASSESSED</u> <u>VALUATION</u>

The Service Area consists of approximately [___] acres of [____] land. The current assessed valuation of the Service Area is assumed to be \$0.00 for purposes of this Service Plan and, at build out, is expected to be sufficient to reasonably discharge the Debt under the Financial Plan. The residential population of the District at build-out is estimated to be approximately [___] persons. (OR) The non-residential density of the District at build-out estimated to be approximately [___] square feet.

Approval of this Service Plan by the City does not imply approval of the development of a specific area within the Districts, nor does it imply approval of the number of residential units or the total site/floor area of commercial or industrial buildings which may be identified in this Service Plan or any of the exhibits attached thereto. The permitted level of development within the Project is as contained within an Approved Development Plan.

Approval of this Service Plan by the City in no way releases or relieves the developer of the Project, or the landowner or any subdivider of the Project property, or any of their respective successors or assigns, of obligations to construct public improvements for the Project or of obligations to provide to the City such financial guarantees as may be required by the City to ensure the completion of the Public Improvements, or of any other obligations to the City under the Municipal Code or any applicable annexation agreement, subdivision agreement, or other agreements affecting the Project property or development thereof.

V. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED POWERS, IMPROVEMENTS AND SERVICES

A. Powers of the Districts and Service Plan Amendment.

The Districts shall have the power and authority to provide the Public Improvements within and without the boundaries of the Districts as such power and authority is described in the Special District Act, and other applicable statutes, common law and the Constitution, subject to the limitations set forth in this Service Plan and the Intergovernmental Agreement.

1. <u>Operations and Maintenance Limitation</u>. The purpose of the Districts is to plan for, design, acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop and finance the Public Improvements. The Districts shall maintain the Public Improvements in a manner consistent with the Approved Development Plan, other rules and regulations of the City, and applicable provisions of the Municipal Code, all as directed by the City. The City may consider whether to accept dedication of Public Improvements to the City upon 50% build-out of the development of each phase of the Project as identified in the Approved Development Plan. The Districts shall be authorized to operate and maintain all of the Public Improvements at a level equal to or greater than City standards, unless such authorization is specifically limited in the Intergovernmental Agreement.

2. <u>Fire Protection Limitation</u>. The Districts shall not be authorized to plan for, design, acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop, finance, operate or maintain fire protection facilities or services, unless such facilities and services are provided pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement with the City and Union Colony Fire and Rescue Authority. The authority to plan for, design, acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop or finance fire hydrants and related improvements installed as part of the water system shall not be limited by this provision.

3. <u>Television Relay and Translation Limitation</u>. The Districts shall not be authorized to plan for, design, acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop, finance, operate or maintain television relay and translation facilities and services, other than for the installation of conduit as a part of a street construction project, unless such facilities and services are provided for use by City-authorized franchise operators pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement with the City.

4. <u>Construction Standards Limitation</u>. The Districts will ensure that the Public Improvements are designed and constructed in accordance with the standards and specifications of the City and of federal and state governmental entities having proper jurisdiction and of those special districts that qualify as "interested persons" under Section 32-1-204(1), C.R.S., as applicable. The Districts will obtain the City's approval of civil engineering plans and will obtain applicable permits for construction and installation of Public Improvements prior to performing such work. Additionally, the District will permit City inspectors to inspect the infrastructure during construction.

5. <u>Property Acquisition Limitation; Transfer Requirement</u>. The District shall not exercise any power of eminent domain without the prior written consent of the City. If the City decides the proposed improvement is needed, at the time of dedication the District shall at

6

no expense to the City, transfer to the City all rights-of-way, fee interests and easements that the City determines are necessary for access to and operation and maintenance of the Public Improvements, consistent with the Approved Development Plan and to the extent such interests have not been acquired by the City through such Development Plan process.

6. <u>Privately Placed Debt Limitation</u>. Prior to the issuance of any Privately Placed Debt, the Districts shall obtain the certification by the District's Investment Banker for such Debt substantially as follows:

We [I] certify that (1) the net effective interest rate (calculated as defined in Section 32-1-103(12), C.R.S.) to be borne by the District for the [insert the designation of the Debt] does not exceed a market [tax-exempt] [taxable] interest rate, using criteria deemed appropriate by us [me] and based upon our [my] analysis of comparable high yield securities; and (2) the structure of [insert designation of the Debt], including maturities and early redemption provisions, is reasonable considering the financial circumstances of the District.

7. <u>Inclusion and Exclusion Limitations</u>. The Districts shall not include within any of their boundaries any property outside the Service Area without the prior written consent of the City Council. The District shall not exclude any property from the District if such exclusion will result, or is reasonably anticipated to result, in detriment to the remaining residents and taxpayers within the District, or to the District's bondholders.

8. <u>Initial Debt Limitation</u>. On or before the effective date of approval of an Approved Development Plan, the Districts shall not: (a) issue any Debt; nor (b) impose a mill levy for the payment of Debt by direct imposition or by transfer of funds from the operating fund to the Debt service funds; nor (c) impose or collect any fees or revenues from any other source for the purpose of repayment of Debt.

 9.
 Total Debt Issuance Limitation. The Districts shall not issue Debt in excess of \$[_____] total aggregate principal amount.

10. <u>Monies from Other Governmental Sources</u>. The Districts shall not apply for or accept Conservation Trust Funds, Great Outdoors Colorado Funds, or other funds available from or through governmental or non-profit entities for which the City is eligible to apply for, except as may be specifically authorized in an intergovernmental agreement with the City pursuant to Section 13.50.080 of the Municipal Code. This Section shall not apply to specific ownership taxes which shall be distributed to and constitute a revenue source for the Districts without any limitation.

11. <u>Consolidation Limitation</u>. No District shall not file a request with any Court to consolidate with any other Title 32 district, whether one of Districts or otherwise, without the prior written consent of the City.

12. <u>Bankruptcy Limitation</u>. All of the limitations contained in this Service Plan, including, but not limited to, those pertaining to the Maximum Debt Mill Levy, the total debt issuance limitation, and the Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term have been established under the authority of the City to approve a Service Plan with conditions pursuant to Section 32-1-204.5, C.R.S. It is expressly intended that such limitations:

(a) shall not be subject to set-aside for any reason or by any court of competent jurisdiction, absent a Service Plan Amendment; and

(b) are, together with all other requirements of Colorado law, included in the "political or governmental powers" reserved to the State under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (11 U.S.C.) Section 903, and are also included in the "regulatory or electoral approval necessary under applicable nonbankruptcy law" as required for confirmation of a Chapter 9 Bankruptcy Plan under Bankruptcy Code Section 943(b)(6).

Any Debt, issued with a pledge or which results in a pledge, that exceeds the Maximum Debt Mill Levy or the Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term, shall be deemed a material modification of this Service Plan pursuant to Section 32-1-207, C.R.S. and shall not be an authorized issuance of Debt unless and until such material modification has been approved by the City as part of a Service Plan Amendment.

13. <u>Revenue Bond Limitation</u>. The Districts shall not issue revenue bonds, except as set forth in this Section. Prior to issuing any revenue bonds, the District or Districts proposing to issue such revenue bonds shall submit all relevant details of such issuance to the City Council, which may elect to treat the issuance of revenue bonds as a material modification of the Service Plan. If the City Council determines that the issuance of revenue bonds constitutes a material modification of the Service Plan, the Districts shall proceed to amend the Service Plan in accordance with Section 32-1-207, C.R.S. prior to issuing any revenue bonds.

14. <u>Service Plan Amendment Requirement</u>. This Service Plan is general in nature and does not include specific detail in some instances because development plans have not been finalized. The Service Plan has been designed with sufficient flexibility to enable the Districts to provide required Public Improvements under evolving circumstances without the need for numerous amendments. Modification of the general types of services and facilities making up the Public Improvements, and changes in proposed configurations, locations or dimensions of the Public Improvements shall be permitted to accommodate development needs consistent with the then-current Approved Development Plan(s) for the Project, subject to the limitations of this Service Plan and the Intergovernmental Agreement.

The Districts are independent units of local government, separate and distinct from the City, and their activities are subject to review by the City only insofar as they may deviate in a material manner from the requirements of the Service Plan, the Municipal Code, or the Intergovernmental Agreement. Any District may amend this Service Plan without the permission or consent of the remaining Districts, to the extent that the Service Plan amendment affects only that District initiating the statutory amendment process. However, actions of any District which: (1) violate the limitations set forth in Sections V.A.1-14 above; (2) violate the limitations set forth in Section VI.B.; (3) constitute a material modification of the Service Plan; or (4) constitutes a failure to comply with the Intergovernmental Agreement or other agreement with the City, which non-compliance has not been waived in writing by the City, shall be

deemed to be a material modification to this Service Plan and the City shall be entitled to all remedies available under State and local law to enjoin such action(s) of the Districts.

Any City approval requirements contained in this Service Plan (including, without limitation, any provisions requiring that a change, request, occurrence, act or omission be treated as a Service Plan Amendment or be deemed a "material modification" of the Service Plan) shall remain in full force and effect, and, unless otherwise provided by resolution of the City Council, such City approval shall continue to be required, notwithstanding any future change in law modifying or repealing any statutory provision concerning service plans, amendments thereof or modifications thereto.

B. Capital Plan.

The Districts shall have authority to provide for the planning, design, acquisition, construction, installation, relocation, redevelopment, maintenance, and financing of the Public Improvements within and without the boundaries of the Districts, to be more specifically defined in an Approved Development Plan. A Capital Plan, including: (1) a comprehensive list of the Public Improvements to be developed by the Districts; (2) an estimate of the cost of the Public Improvements, together with a letter from a Colorado professional registered engineer certifying that such costs are reasonable in the engineer's opinion and that such estimates were prepared based upon City construction standards; and (3) a pro forma capital expenditure plan correlating expenditures with development is attached hereto as Exhibit D. A Map depicting the Public Improvements is attached hereto as Exhibit E. As shown in the Capital Plan, the estimated cost of the Public Improvements which may be planned for, designed, acquired, constructed, installed, relocated, redeveloped, maintained or financed by the Districts is approximately]. Costs of required Public Improvements that cannot be financed by the \$[Districts within the parameters of this Service Plan and the financial capability of the District are expected to be financed by the developer of the Project.

The Districts shall be permitted to allocate costs between such categories of the Public Improvements as deemed necessary in their discretion.

All of the Public Improvements described herein will be designed in such a way as to assure that the Public Improvements standards will be compatible with those of the City and shall be in accordance with the requirements of City standards and the Approved Development Plan. All descriptions of the Public Improvements to be constructed, and their related costs, are estimates only and are subject to modification as engineering, development plans, economics, the City's requirements, and construction scheduling may require. Upon approval of this Service Plan, the Districts will continue to develop and refine the Capital Plan and the Map Depicting Public Improvements, as necessary, and prepare for issuance of Debt. All cost estimates will be inflated to then-current dollars at the time of the issuance of Debt and construction. All construction cost estimates contained in **Exhibit D** assume construction to applicable standards and specifications of the City and state or federal requirements.

C. Multiple District Structure.

It is anticipated that the Districts, collectively, will undertake the financing and construction of the Public Improvements. It is generally anticipated that the Districts will undertake the financing and construction of Public Improvements in sequential order (i.e., District No. 1 will proceed with initial construction, then District No. 2, etc.), share certain Public Improvement costs. The nature of the functions and services to be provided by each District, and the mechanisms by which the Districts may cooperatively fund Public Improvement costs, shall be clarified in an intergovernmental agreement among the Districts. The intergovernmental agreement among the Districts, and all amendments thereto, shall be designed to help assure the orderly development of the Public Improvements and essential services in accordance with the requirements of this Service Plan. Implementation of such intergovernmental agreement and all amendments thereto, as well as all other intergovernmental agreements and all amendments thereto, as well as all other intergovernmental agreements thereto proposed between or among the Districts regarding the subject matter of this Service Plan, shall be subject to review and approval of the City prior to their execution by the Districts.

VI. FINANCIAL PLAN

A. General.

The Districts shall be authorized to provide for the planning, design, acquisition, construction, installation, relocation and/or redevelopment of the Public Improvements from their revenues and by and through the proceeds of Debt to be issued by the Districts. The Financial Plan for the Districts shall be to issue such Debt as the Districts can reasonably pay from revenues derived from the Maximum Debt Mill Levy and other legally available revenues. All bonds and other Debt issued by the Districts may be payable from any and all legally available revenues of the Districts, including general *ad valorem* taxes to be imposed upon all taxable property within the Districts. The Districts will also rely upon various other revenue sources authorized by law, such as interest, specific ownership taxes, advances from the Project developer and grants. The District is also authorized to assess and collect a District Facility Fee as set forth in Section VI.E., below. Unless specifically authorized in the Intergovernmental Agreement, the District shall not impose or assess any fees, rates, tolls, penalties, or charges other than the District Facility Fee without first obtaining City approval of an amendment to this Service Plan, which amendment shall be deemed to be a material modification hereof.

The total Debt that the Districts shall be permitted to issue shall not exceed [_____] in aggregate principal amount. Debt is permitted to be issued on a schedule and in such year or years as the issuing District determines shall meet the needs of the Capital Plan referenced above and the progression of the development, subject to compliance with this Service Plan. The [_____] that the Districts shall be permitted to issue is supported by the Financial Plan prepared by [______] (name of District's Underwriter or certified public accountant), attached hereto as **Exhibit F**. The City may obtain an independent certification at the District's sole cost from an independent CPA or other financial consultant of the City's choosing, experienced in advising governmental entities on matters relating to the issuance of securities in Colorado regarding the financial plan and the reasonableness of the projections contained in the financial plan.

B. Maximum Voted Interest Rate and Maximum Underwriting Discount.

The interest rate on any Debt is limited to the market rate at the time the Debt is issued. In the event of a default, the proposed maximum interest rate on any Debt shall not exceed eighteen percent (18%). The proposed maximum underwriting discount will be five percent (5%). Debt, when issued, will comply with all relevant requirements of this Service Plan, State law and Federal law as then applicable to the issuance of public securities.

C. Maximum Debt Mill Levy.

The Maximum Debt Mill Levy shall be the maximum mill levy a District is permitted to impose upon the taxable property within such District for payment of Debt imposed by the District, and shall be determined as follows:

1. The Maximum Debt Mill Levy seventy (70) mills less the number of mills imposed by the District for operations and maintenance purposes; provided that if, on or after January 1, 2007, there are changes in the method of calculating assessed valuation or any constitutionally mandated tax credit, cut or abatement; the mill levy limitation applicable to such Debt may be increased or decreased to reflect such changes, such increases or decreases to be determined by the Board in good faith (such determination to be binding and final) so that to the extent possible, the actual tax revenues generated by the mill levy, as adjusted for changes occurring after January 1, 2007, are neither diminished nor enhanced as a result of such changes. For purposes of the foregoing, a change in the ratio of actual valuation shall be deemed to be a change in the method of calculating assessed valuation.

2. All Debt issued by the Districts must be issued in compliance with all requirements of State law.

To the extent that the Districts are composed of or subsequently organized into one or more subdistricts as permitted under Section 32-1-1101, C.R.S., the term "**District**" as used in this Section shall be deemed to refer to the District and to each such subdistrict separately, so that each of the subdistricts shall be treated as a separate, independent district for purposes of the application of this definition.

Nothing herein shall prevent the District from covenanting with Debt holders or others to limit the amount of its operations and maintenance mill levy, as long as all district operations and maintenance requirements are met as required by VI.H. below.

D. Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term for Residential Districts.

No Residential District shall impose a levy for repayment of any and all Debt (or use the proceeds of any mill levy for repayment of Debt) which exceeds forty (40) years after the year of the initial imposition of such mill levy unless a majority of the Board of Directors of the District imposing the mill levy, which Board of Directors shall include at least three homeowners residing in the District, have voted in favor of a refunding of a part or all of the Debt and such

refunding will result in a net present value savings as set forth in Section 11-56-101, C.R.S. et seq.

E. Debt Repayment Sources.

Each of the Districts may impose a mill levy on taxable property within its boundaries as a primary source of revenue for repayment of debt service and for operations and maintenance. In no event shall the debt service mill levy in any District exceed the Maximum Debt Mill Levy or, in any Residential District, the Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term.

The Districts may also collect a one-time District Facility Fee for capital improvements, provided that such fee does not exceed the following limits:

 1.
 For each single-family detached residential unit, the District Facility Fee

 shall not exceed [_____] Dollars (\$[_____]).

2. For each single-family attached or multi-family residential unit, the District Facility Fee shall not exceed [____] Dollars (\$[___]).

3. For a structure other than a single-family or multi-family residential structure, the District Facility Fee shall not exceed [____] (\$[___]) per square foot of the structure.

4. The District Facility Fee set forth in this Service Plan may increase by up to the Consumer Price Index for Greeley, all items, all urban consumers (or its successor index for any years for which Consumer Price Index is not available) each year thereafter (as an inflation adjustment) commencing on January 1, 20[___]. The District Facility Fee shall be collected by the District prior to issuance of a Building Permit. Unless specifically authorized in the Intergovernmental Agreement, the District shall not impose or assess any fees, rates, tolls, penalties, or charges other than the District Facility Fee, as limited above, without first obtaining City approval of an amendment to this Service Plan, which amendment shall be deemed to be a material modification hereof.

F. Security for Debt.

The Districts shall not pledge any revenue, property or other assets of the City as security for any District indebtedness. Approval of this Service Plan shall not be construed as a guarantee by the City of payment of any of the District's obligations; nor shall anything in the Service Plan be construed so as to create any responsibility or liability on the part of the City in the event of default by the Districts in the payment of any such obligation.

G. TABOR Compliance.

The Districts will comply with the provisions of TABOR. In the discretion of the Board, the Districts may set up enterprises or nonprofit entities to manage, fund, construct and operate facilities, services and programs. To the extent allowed by law, any entity created by the

Districts will remain under the control of the District's Boards. The activities of such enterprises and entities shall comply with the provisions of this Service Plan.

H. Districts' Organizational Costs.

The estimated cost of engineering services, legal services and administrative services, in connection with the District's organization, are anticipated to be \$[____], which will be eligible for reimbursement from Debt proceeds.

In addition to the capital costs of the Public Improvements, the Districts will require operating funds for administration and to plan and cause the Public Improvements to be constructed and maintained, if such maintenance is addressed in the Intergovernmental Agreement. The first year's operating budget is estimated to be \$[____], which is anticipated to be derived from funding advances by the developer of the Project until such time as the District's operating mill levy revenues are sufficient to operate the District.

The Districts may impose an operations mill levy as necessary to operate the Districts and for provision of operation and maintenance services to their taxpayers and/or service users at a level equal to or greater than City standards. The authorized mill levy for operations and maintenance activities shall be included within the Maximum Debt Mill Levy.

I. <u>Subdistricts.</u>

Any District may organize subdistricts or areas as allowed by Section 32-1-1101(1)(f), C.R.S., with the prior approval of the City Council. In accordance with Section 32-1-1101(1)(f)(I), C.R.S., the District shall notify the City prior to establishing any such subdistrict(s) or area(s), and shall provide the City with details regarding the purpose, location, and relationship of the subdistrict(s) or area(s). The City Council may elect to treat the organization of any such subdistrict(s) or area(s) as a material modification of the Service Plan.

VII. ANNUAL REPORT

A. <u>General.</u> Each of the Districts shall file an annual report with the City Clerk not later than September 1 of each calendar year, which annual report shall reflect activity and financial events of the District through the preceding December 31 (the "report year").

B. Reporting of Significant Events.

The annual report shall include the following:

1. A narrative summary of the progress of the District in implementing its Service Plan for the report year;

2. Except when exemption from audit has been granted for the report year under the Local Government Audit Law, the audited financial statements of the District for the report year including a statement of financial condition (i.e., balance sheet) as of December 31 of the report year and the statement of operations (i.e., revenues and expenditures) for the report year or a copy of the audit exemption application;

3. Unless disclosed within a separate schedule to the financial statements, a summary of the capital expenditures incurred by the District in development of Public Improvements in the report year, as well as any Public Improvements proposed to be undertaken in the five (5) years following the report year;

4. Unless disclosed within a separate schedule to the financial statements, a summary of the financial obligations of the District at the end of the report year, including the amount of outstanding Debt, the amount and terms of any new Debt issued in the report year, the amount of payment or retirement of existing Debt of the District in the report year, the total assessed valuation of all taxable properties within the District as of January 1 of the report year and the current mill levy of the District pledged to Debt retirement in the report year;

5. A summary of the residential and commercial development in the District for the report year;

6. A summary of all fees, charges and assessments imposed by the District as of January 1 of the report year;

7. Certification of the Board that no action, event or condition has occurred in the report year, or certification that such event has occurred but that an amendment to the Service Plan that allows such event has been approved by City Council; and

8. The name, business address and telephone number of each member of the Board and its chief administrative officer and general counsel, together with the date, place and time of the regular meetings of the Board.

In addition, the Districts shall submit to the City, by January 15 of each year, the District's budget for the then current calendar year.

VIII. DISTRICT INDEMNIFICATION OF THE CITY; DISSOLUTION OF THE DISTRICT

Upon an independent determination of the City Council and written notice to the Districts that the purposes for which the Districts were created have been accomplished, the Districts agree to file petitions in the District Court for and in Weld County, Colorado, for dissolution, pursuant to the applicable State statutes. In no event shall dissolution occur until the Districts have provided for the payment or discharge of all of their outstanding indebtedness and other financial obligations as required pursuant to State statutes.

There is attached hereto as <u>**Exhibit G**</u> the Project Developer's Indemnification Letter, which is submitted to the City by the Developer as part of this Service Plan. The District shall approve and execute the Indemnification Letter at its first Board meeting after its organizational election, in the same form as the Indemnification Letter set forth in <u>**Exhibit G**</u> and shall promptly deliver an executed original to the City.

IX. <u>DISCLOSURES REQUIRED TO PURCHASERS OF PROPERTY WITHIN THE</u> <u>DISTRICT</u>

The City wants purchasers of property within the District to be aware of the additional tax burden to be imposed. The City mandates early written and recorded notice of the total (overlapping) tax burden, including the Maximum Debt Mill Levy, the District Facility Fee and the Maximum Debt Mill Levy Imposition Term, as applicable. The City will review the type and timing of the disclosure, which the proponents of the Districts are proposing. The notice shall be recorded against all property within the Districts prior to the Districts' certification of the formation of the District to the Colorado Division of Local Government as required by Section 32-1-306, C.R.S.

In addition to the above notice and the requirements of Ordinance 13.50.090, the District shall annually provide a written disclosure to all land owners within the District that describes the tax levies, fees and costs that have been assessed to each property in the District as a result of implementation of the District's Financial Plan stated in Article VI or this Service Plan. A copy of such disclosure sent to each landowner shall also be forwarded to the City of Greeley to be included in its public records related to the District.

X. INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT

The form of the intergovernmental agreement relating to the limitations imposed on the Districts' activities, is attached hereto as $\underline{Exhibit H}$. The Districts shall approve and execute the Intergovernmental Agreement at their first Board meeting following their organizational election, in the same form as the Intergovernmental Agreement approved by the City Council, and shall promptly deliver an executed original to the City. Failure of the Districts to execute the Intergovernmental Agreement as required herein shall constitute a material modification. The City Council shall approve an intergovernmental agreement at the public hearing approving the Service Plan.

As limited by this Article X, the Districts may enter into an intergovernmental agreement regarding the functions and services to be provided by each District, and the mechanisms to be used by the Districts for the sharing of costs of Public Improvements. Such intergovernmental agreement and all amendments thereto, as well as all other intergovernmental agreements and amendments thereto proposed between or among the Districts regarding the subject matter of this Service Plan, shall be subject to review and comment by the city prior to their execution by the Districts. If entered into by the Districts, the Districts shall cause any intergovernmental agreements agreements to be delivered to the City as soon as practicable upon formation of the Districts. The Districts shall also deliver promptly the Districts' execution fully executed and complete copies of all amendments to such intergovernmental agreement, and of all other intergovernmental agreements and amendments thereto between or among the Districts regarding the subject regarding the subject matter of this Service Plan.

No intergovernmental agreements other than the City Intergovernmental Agreement and the Districts' intergovernmental agreements are anticipated. The District(s) shall use all City provided infrastructure services, including but not limited to, water and sewer service, unless the City is unable or unwilling to provide such services. In the event the City is unable or unwilling

to provide such services, the, in that event, the District(s) may seek such infrastructure services from other providers. Except for such Intergovernmental Agreement with the City, any intergovernmental agreement proposed regarding the subject matter of this Service Plan shall be subject to review and comment by the City prior to its execution by a District.

XI. NON-COMPLIANCE WITH SERVICE PLAN

In the event it is determined that any District has undertaken any act or omission which violates the Service Plan or constitutes a material departure from the Service Plan collectively, "**Material Departure**"), the City may impose any of the sanctions set forth in the Municipal Code, including but not limited to affirmative injunctive relief to require the Districts to act in accordance with the provisions of this Service Plan. Except as it would relate to the sale or refinancing of bonds, the District hereby waives the provisions of Section 32-1-207(3)(b), C.R.S. and agrees it will not rely on such provisions as a bar to the enforcement by the City of any provisions of this Service Plan. The City will provide such District with written notice of any Material Departure from the Service Plan. The District shall have sixty (60) days to provide the City with written evidence that no Material Departure occurred, which evidence must be reasonably satisfactory to the City or to commence to cure such Material Departure. If the District is diligently pursuing the cure of such Material Departure, the City shall not take any action to enjoin the District. In the event the District fails to complete the cure or take any action to cure the Material Departure, the City may impose any sanctions allowed by municipal code or statute.

XII. CONCLUSION

It is submitted that this Service Plan for the Districts, as required by Section 32-1-203(2), C.R.S., and the Municipal Code, establishes that:

1. There is sufficient existing and projected need for organized service in the area to be serviced by the Districts;

2. The existing service in the area to be served by the Districts is inadequate for present and projected needs;

3. The Districts are capable of providing economical and sufficient service to the area within their proposed boundaries; and

4. The area to be included in the Districts does have, and will have, the financial ability to discharge the proposed indebtedness on a reasonable basis.

5. Adequate service is not, and will not be, available to the area through the City or County or other existing municipal or quasi-municipal corporations, including existing special districts, within a reasonable time and on a comparable basis.

6. The facility and service standards of the Districts are compatible with the facility and service standards of the City.

7. The proposal is in substantial compliance the City's Comprehensive Plan.

8. The proposal is in compliance with any duly adopted City, regional or state long-range water quality management plan for the area.

9. The creation of the Districts is in the best interests of the area proposed to be served.

10. The creation of the Districts is in the best interests of the residents and future residents of the area proposed to be served.

11. The proposal is in substantial compliance with the Municipal Code.

12. The proposal will not foster urban development that is remote or incapable of being integrated with existing urban areas, and will not place a burden on the City or adjacent jurisdictions to provide urban services to residents of the Districts.

EXHIBIT A

Legal Descriptions

{00599201.DOCX / }

64

EXHIBIT B

Greeley Vicinity Map

EXHIBIT C-1

Initial District Boundary Map

EXHIBIT C-2

Inclusion Area Boundary Map

EXHIBIT C-3

Proof of Ownership and Consents

EXHIBIT D

Capital Plan

EXHIBIT E

Map Depicting Public Improvements

EXHIBIT F

Financial Plan

{00599201.DOCX / }

EXHIBIT G

Indemnification Letters

1. Developer's Letter

{date - on or after date of Service Plan approval}

City of Greeley 1000 10th Street Greeley, CO 80631

RE: [____] Metropolitan District

To the City Council:

This Indemnification Letter (the "Letter") is delivered by the undersigned (the "Developer") in connection with the review by the City of Greeley (the "City") of the Service Plan, including all amendments heretofore or hereafter made thereto (the "Service Plan") for the [_____] Metropolitan District (the "District"). Developer, for and on behalf of itself and its transferees, successors and assigns, represents, warrants, covenants and agrees to and for the benefit of the City as follows:

Developer hereby waives and releases any present or future claims it 1. might have against the City or the City's elected or appointed officers, employees, agents, contractors or insurers (the "Released Persons") in any manner related to or connected with the Service Plan or any action or omission with respect thereto. Developer further hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Released Persons from and against any and all liabilities resulting from any and all claims, demands, suits, actions or other proceedings of whatsoever kind or nature made or brought by any third party, including attorneys' fees and expenses and court costs, which directly or indirectly or purportedly arise out of or are in any manner related to or connected with any of the following: (a) the Service Plan or any document or instrument contained or referred to therein; or (b) the formation of the District; or (c) any actions or omissions of the Developer or the District, or their agents, in connection with the District, including, without limitation, any actions or omissions of the Developer or District, or their agents, in relation to any bonds or other financial obligations of the District or any offering documents or other disclosures made in connection therewith. Developer further agrees to investigate, handle, respond to and to provide defense for and defend against, or at the City's option to pay the attorneys' fees and expenses for counsel of the City's choice for any such liabilities, claims, demands, suits, actions or other proceedings.

2. Developer hereby consents to the Debt Instrument Disclosure Requirements as set forth Section VI.F of the Service Plan, acknowledges the City's right to modify the required disclosures, and waives and releases the City from any claims Developer might have based on or relating to the use of or any statements made or to be made in such disclosures (including any modifications thereto).

G-1

3. This Letter has been duly authorized and executed on behalf of Developer.

Very truly yours,

Developer

2. District's Letter

{date - date of organizational meeting}

City of Greeley 1000 10th Street Greeley, CO 80631

RE: [____] Metropolitan District

To the City Council:

This Indemnification Letter (the "Letter") is delivered by the [____] Metropolitan District (the "District") in order to comply with the Service Plan, including all amendments heretofore or hereafter made thereto (the "Service Plan") for the District. The District, for and on behalf of itself and its transferees, successors and assigns, represents, warrants, covenants and agrees to and for the benefit of the City as follows:

1. The District hereby waives and releases any present or future claims it might have against the City or the City's elected or appointed officers, employees, agents, contractors or insurers (the "Released Persons") in any manner related to or connected with the Service Plan or any action or omission with respect thereto. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the District hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Released Persons from and against any and all liabilities resulting from any and all claims, demands, suits, actions or other proceedings of whatsoever kind or nature made or brought by any third party, including attorneys' fees and expenses and court costs, which directly or indirectly or purportedly arise out of or are in any manner related to or connected with any of the following: (a) the Service Plan or any document or instrument contained or referred to therein; or (b) the formation of the District; or (c) any actions or omissions of the District, [] (the "Developer"), or their agents, in connection with the District, including, without limitation, any actions or omissions of the District or Developer, or their agents, in relation to any bonds or other financial obligations of the District or any offering documents or other disclosures made in connection therewith. The District further agrees to investigate, handle, respond to and to provide defense for and defend against, or at the City's option to pay the attorneys' fees and expenses for counsel of the City's choice for any such liabilities, claims, demands, suits, actions or other proceedings.

2. It is understood and agreed that neither the District nor the City waives or intends to waive the monetary limits (presently \$150,000 per person and \$600,000 per occurrence) or any other rights, immunities and protections provided by the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, § 24 10 101, et seq., C.R.S., as from time to time amended, or otherwise available to the City, the District, its officers, or its employees.

3. The District hereby consents to the Debt Instrument Disclosure Requirements as set forth Section VI.F of the Service Plan, acknowledges the City's right to modify the required disclosures, and waives and releases the City from any claims the District might have based on or relating to the use of or any statements made or to be made in such disclosures (including any modifications thereto).

This Letter has been duly authorized and executed on behalf of the 4.

District.

Very truly yours,

[____] Metropolitan District

By: President

Attest:

Secretary

EXHIBIT H

Intergovernmental Agreement

{00599201.DOCX / }

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO AND [____] METROPOLITAN DISTRICT

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of this [___] day of [____], [___], by and between the CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO, a home-rule municipal corporation of the State of Colorado ("City"), and [____] METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado ("District"). The City and the District are collectively referred to as the Parties.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the District was organized to provide those services and to exercise powers as are more specifically set forth in the Districts' Service Plan approved by the City on [_____], 20[___] ("Service Plans"); and

WHEREAS, the Service Plans make reference to the execution of an intergovernmental agreement between the City and the District; and

WHEREAS, the City and the District have determined it to be in the best interests of their respective taxpayers, residents and property owners to enter into this Intergovernmental Agreement ("Agreement").

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and mutual agreements herein contained, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as follows:

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS

1. Service Plan. The District will not take any action, including, without limitation, the issuance of any obligations or the imposition of any tax, which would constitute a material departure from the terms of the Service Plan and a material modification thereof as set forth in §32-1-207(2), C.R.S. Actions of the District which constitute a material departure from the terms of the Service Plan and a material modification thereof as set forth in §32-1-207(2), C.R.S., shall be a default hereunder, and shall entitle the City to protect and enforce its rights hereunder by such suit, action, or special proceedings as the City shall deem appropriate, including, without limitation, an action for specific performance or damages. It is intended that the remedies hereof shall be in addition to any remedies the City may have or actions the City may bring under §32-1-207, C.R.S., or any other applicable statute. The District shall have sixty (60) days to provide the City with written evidence that no Material Departure occurred, which evidence must be reasonably satisfactory to the City or to commence to cure such Material Departure. If the District is diligently pursuing the cure of such Material Departure, the City shall not take any action to enjoin the District. In the event the District fails to complete the cure or take any action to cure the Material Departure, the City may impose any sanctions allowed by municipal code or statute. Nothing herein is intended to modify or prevent the use of the

provisions of §32-1-207(3)(b), C.R.S, however, the time limits of §32-1-207(3)(b) are expressly waived by the District.

2. <u>Notices</u>. All notices, demands, requests or other communications to be sent by one party to the other hereunder or required by law shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been validly given or served by delivery of same in person to the address or by courier delivery, via United Parcel Service or other nationally recognized overnight air courier service, or by depositing same in the United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

To the Districts:

Image: To the Districts:

Image: To the City:

Image: To the City: To the City:

Image: To the City: To the City

All notices, demands, requests or other communications shall be effective upon such personal delivery or one (1) business day after being deposited with United Parcel Service or other nationally recognized overnight air courier service or three (3) business days after deposit in the United States mail. By giving the other party hereto at least ten (10) days written notice thereof in accordance with the provisions hereof, each of the Parties shall have the right from time to time to change its address.

3. <u>Entire Agreement of the Parties</u>. This written Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties and supersedes all prior written or oral agreements, negotiations, or representations and understandings of the Parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein.

4. <u>Amendment</u>. This Agreement may be amended, modified, changed, or terminated in whole or in part only by a written agreement duly authorized and executed by the Parties hereto and without amendment to the Service Plan.

5. <u>Assignment</u>. No Party hereto shall assign any of its rights nor delegate any of its duties hereunder to any person or entity without having first obtained the prior written consent of all other Parties, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld. Any purported assignment or delegation in violation of the provisions hereof shall be void and ineffectual.

6. <u>Default/Remedies</u>. In the event of a breach or default of this Agreement by any Party, the non-defaulting Parties shall be entitled to exercise all remedies available at law or in equity, specifically including suits for specific performance and/or monetary damages. In the event of any proceeding to enforce the terms, covenants or conditions hereof, the prevailing Party/Parties in such proceeding shall be entitled to obtain as part of its judgment or award its reasonable attorneys' fees.

7. <u>Governing Law and Venue</u>. This Agreement shall be governed and construed under the laws of the State of Colorado.

8. <u>Inurement</u>. Each of the terms, covenants and conditions hereof shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

9. <u>Integration</u>. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the matters addressed herein. All prior discussions and negotiations regarding the subject matter hereof are merged herein.

10. <u>Parties Interested Herein</u>. Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to confer upon, or to give to, any person other than the Districts and the City any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any covenants, terms, conditions, or provisions thereof, and all the covenants, terms, conditions, and provisions in this Agreement by and on behalf of the Districts and the City shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Districts and the City.

11. <u>Severability</u>. If any covenant, term, condition, or provision under this Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such covenant, term, condition, or provision shall not affect any other provision contained herein, the intention being that such provisions are severable.

12. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same document.

13. <u>Paragraph Headings</u>. Paragraph headings are inserted for convenience of reference only.

14. <u>Defined Terms</u>. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Service Plan.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Districts and the City have caused this Agreement to be duly executed to be effective as of the day first above written.

	[] METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
	By: President
Attest:	
Secretary	
	CITY OF GREELEY, COLORADO
	By:
Attest:	
By: Its:	
APPROVED AS TO FORM:	

Worksession Agenda Summary

January 9, 2018 Agenda Item Number 2 Contact: Roy Otto, City Manager

Title

Scheduling of Meetings, Other Events

Summary

During this portion of the meeting the City Manager or City Council may review the attached Council Calendar or Worksession Schedule regarding any upcoming meetings or events.

Attachments

Council Meetings/Other Events Calendar Council Meeting/Worksession Schedule Status Report of Council Petitions and Related Information

January 201 February 20				January 2018 <u>Su Mo Tu We Th</u> 1 2 3 7 8 9 10 1 14 15 16 17 18 21 22 23 24 22 28 29 30 31	n Fr Sa Su Mo	February 2018 Tu We Th Fr Sa 1 2 3 6 7 8 9 10 13 14 15 16 17 20 21 22 23 24 27 28
SUNDAY	MONDAY	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY	SATURDAY
Jan 7	8	9 5:00pm City Council Worksession (1025 9th Ave)	10 3:00pm Board & Commission Interviews - Finn/Casseday (Mayor's Office @ City Hall) - Council Master 5:00pm GPD'S 2017 Annual Awards Ceremony (Monfort Concert Hall,	11 2:00pm Lieutenant Wayne Alm's Retirement Celebration (Fire Station 3:00pm Board & Commission Interviews - 3:00pm New Officer Swearing-In Ceremony -	12	13 10:00am Coffee with Councilmember Fitzsimmons (Continuum Coffee, 6560 W. 29th Street)
14	15	16 6:30pm City Council Meeting (1025 9th Ave)	17 7:30am Visit Greeley (Fitzsimmons) 2:00pm Water & Sewer Board (Gates) (School District Six Facility)	18 7:30am DDA (Casseday/Galindo) 3:30pm Airport Authority (Finn/Casseday)	19	20
21	22 11:30am Greeley Chamber of Commerce (Gates) 6:00pm Youth Commission (Galindo)	23 5:00pm City Council Worksession (1025 9th Ave)	24 12:00pm RSVP REQUIRED: Bellvue Water Treatment Plant Ground Breaking Ceremony (Bellvue Water 5:30pm RSVP REQUIRED: Colorado Farm Show Scholarship Dinner (Room	25 5:30pm 2018 B&C Appreciation Reception	26	27 10:00am Roundtables with Rochelle (Joe Molina's Art Gallery, 930 8th Avenue, Greeley CO)
28	29	30	31 7:00am Upstate Colorado Economic Development (Gates/Finn)	Feb 1 7:00am Poudre River Trail (Fitzsimmons) 3:30pm IG Adv. Board (Galindo) 6:00pm MPO (Gates/Casseday)	2	3
4	5	6 6:30pm City Council Meeting (1025 9th Ave)	7	8	9	10 10:00am Coffee with Councilmember Fitzsimmons (Continuum Coffee, 6560 W. 29th Street)

City Council Meeting Schedule

Date	Description	Staff Contact	
	2016 Outstanding Financial Reporting Award Presentation	Victoria Runkle	Recognitions
	Ordinance - Intro - Amendments to Title 2 of the Greeley Municipal Code	Victoria Runkle	Consent
16 2010	Ordinance - Intro - 404 & 406 8th Street	Brad Mueller	Consent
January 16, 2018	Ordinance - Intro - Centerplace North DCMP	Brad Mueller	Consent
Council Meeting	Ordinance - Intro - Comprehensive Plan	Brad Mueller	Consent
	Ordinance - Final - 1900, 1904, & 1908 71st Avenue Rezone	Brad Mueller	Regular
	Board & Commissions Appointments	Betsy Holder	Regular
January 23, 2018	Comprehensive Plan Review	Brad Mueller	0.75
Worksession	Monthly Financial Report	Victoria Runkle	0.50
	Resolution - GOCO Grant Agreement Execution	Andy McRoberts	Consent
	Ordinance - Intro - North Weld Rezone Lots 1 & 2	Brad Mueller	Consent
	Ordinance - Intro - North Weld Rezone Lot 5	Brad Mueller	Consent
February 6, 2018	Ordinance - Intro - 135 N. 35th Avenue Rezone	Brad Mueller	Consent
Council Meeting	Ordinance - Final - 404 & 406 8th Street Rezone	Brad Mueller	Regular
	Ordinance - Final Centerplace North DCMP	Brad Mueller	Regular
	Ordinance - Final - Comprehensive Plan	Brad Mueller	Regular
	Ordinance - Final - Amendments to Title 2 of the Greeley Municipal Code	Victoria Runkle	Regular
February 13, 2018	Overview of the Arts Program	Andy McRoberts	0.50
Worksession	Year End CIP Report	Joel Hemesath	0.50
	Proclamation - Youth Art Month	Becky Safarik	Recognitions
	Resolution - In Support of the UNC Jazz Festival	Andy McRoberts	Consent
February 20, 2018	Ordinance - Final - North Weld Rezone Lots 1 & 2	Brad Mueller	Regular
Council Meeting	Ordinance - Final - North Weld Rezone Lot 5	Brad Mueller	Regular
	Ordinance - Final - 135 N. 35th Avenue Rezone	Brad Mueller	Regular
	Board & Commissions Appointments	Betsy Holder	Regular
February 27, 2018		Detsynoider	negalai
Worksession	Monthly Financial Report	Victoria Runkle	0.50
March 6, 2018		Victoria Adrixie	0.50
Council Meeting			
March 13, 2018			a state of the
Worksession			
March 20, 2018			Constant State Sheets
Council Meeting	Board & Commissions Appointments	Betsy Holder	Regular
March 27, 2018	Board & Commissions Appointments	betsy holder	Regular
Worksession	Monthly Financial Report	Victoria Runkle	0.50
	Proclamation & Recognition for National Youth Service Day Awards	Andy McRoberts	Recognitions
Meeting	Proclamation & Recognition for National Fourit Service Day Awards	Andy Michoberts	Recognitions
April 10, 2018		The state of the second second	のあ 利止 ないの 一下の
Worksession			
April 17, 2018			
Council Meeting	Deard & Commissions Appointments	Poten Holdon	Pogular
	Board & Commissions Appointments	Betsy Holder	Regular
April 24, 2018 Worksession	Marship Firework Departs	Victoria Runkle	0.50
	Monthly Financial Report	Victoria Kunkie	0.50
May 1, 2018			
Council Meeting			
May 8, 2018 Worksession			
May 15, 2018 Council		製作の構成していた時の以上がない	1 114 CH 20 M COLOR
		Poter Holdor	Pogular
Meeting	Board & Commissions Appointments	Betsy Holder	Regular
May 22, 2018	Manthly Financial Panart	Mintoria Dualda	0.50
Worksession	Monthly Financial Report	Victoria Runkle	0.50
lune 5, 2018 Council			
Meeting			The Distance of the
June 12, 2018		8	β
Worksession			進知難的感